

Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

The cyclical response of fiscal policies in the euro area. Why do results of empirical research differ so strongly?

by Roberto Golinelli and Sandro Momigliano



The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Domenico J. Marchetti, Marcello Bofondi, Michele Caivano, Stefano Iezzi, Paolo Pinotti, Alessandro Secchi, Enrico Sette, Marco Taboga, Pietro Tommasino.

Editorial Assistants: ROBERTO MARANO, NICOLETTA OLIVANTI.

THE CYCLICAL RESPONSE OF FISCAL POLICIES IN THE EURO AREA. WHY DO RESULTS OF EMPIRICAL RESEARCH DIFFER SO STRONGLY?

by Roberto Golinelli^{*} and Sandro Momigliano^{**}

Abstract

Whether discretionary fiscal policies in industrialized countries act counter- or pro-cyclically and whether their reaction is symmetric or asymmetric over the cycle are still largely unsettled questions. This uncertainty remains even when attention is restricted to euroarea countries, where these questions have important implications for the debate on European fiscal rules. We review the recent empirical literature to explain why the results of the various studies differ so greatly. We find that differences are driven partly by the choices made in modelling fiscal behaviour and in the related notions of fiscal policy cyclicality. Results are also affected by data source and vintage (ex post or real-time). The time period chosen is relatively less important. We conclude that the notion of pro-cyclical fiscal policies often upheld in the debate is not justified by the data. Ex post data suggest either a-cyclicality or weak counter-cyclicality. Real-time information gives clearer indications of counter-cyclical behaviour, especially when we progress from a very simple "core" model to a more complex one, including at least the impact of fiscal rules. As for symmetry or asymmetry, the answer varies with sources of data and time periods. With the more complex model the indications of asymmetric behaviour are more robust. Whenever asymmetry is present, it entails shifts in all the parameters of the fiscal rule and not necessarily in the output gap parameter.

JEL Classification: E61, D72, E62, H60

Keywords: fiscal policy, euro-area countries, fiscal rules, pro- and counter-cyclical policies, policy symmetry over the cycle, *ex post* and real-time data, dynamic panel models.

Contents	
1. Introduction	
2. Modelling choices	6
2.1 The three models	6
2.2 Estimating the three models	8
2.3 Comparing Model CAPB and Model CAPB/PB	
2.4 Interpreting the cyclical reaction parameter in Model PB	11
3. Time periods and sources of data	13
4. Policy asymmetries	16
5. Extending the "core" model	
6. Conclusions	
References	
Appendix – Results based on GMM-sys and alternative estimators	

^{*} Roberto Golinelli: University of Bologna, Department of Economics.

^{*} Sandro Momigliano: Bank of Italy, Economics and International Relations.

A preliminary version of the paper was presented at the 9th Banca d'Italia Workshop on Public Finance (Perugia, 29-31 March 2006). We wish to thank Xavier Debrun, Francesco Lippi, Piero Tommasino, Jean-Pierre Vidal, the participants in the Workshop for very useful comments. The opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of Bank of Italy.

1. Introduction

Whether discretionary fiscal policies in industrialized countries act counter- or pro-cyclically and whether their reaction is symmetric or asymmetric over the cycle are still largely unsettled questions. They are important for a variety of reasons. First, answering them would enhance our understanding of past developments and, more generally, of macroeconomic fluctuations, with potential implications on the debate concerning the right model to account for them. Second, clarifying the actual behaviour of governments would represent a useful reference point for the theoretical debate, which is on-going since at least the Thirties but has become intense in recent years, on the need and scope for counter-cyclical stabilization policies. Finally, these answers represent a necessary starting point for proposals concerning fiscal rules and institutional reforms. The latter point is particularly relevant in the European context, where fiscal policy remains the only instrument against asymmetric shocks, since the use of monetary and exchange rate policies is no longer an option for individual countries.

Over the last decades, several empirical works have analysed the behaviour of budgetary policies over the cycle in industrialized countries. Focusing on relatively recent works and excluding studies concerned with individual economies, we reviewed a group of 21 studies, all either assessing the fiscal behaviour of EMU countries or presenting results for a group of countries where EMU countries are prominent.¹ While many studies conclude that policies tended to be pro-cyclical, there are almost as many pointing to a-cyclicality and a few suggest that policies were counter-cyclical. Furthermore, little consensus seems to exist on whether the behaviour has been symmetrical over good and bad times.

We then restricted our analysis to a more homogeneous subset of 12 studies that share the following characteristics: they include the output gap *in levels* as indicator of cyclical conditions and they measure discretionary policies (implicitly or explicitly) on the basis of the change in the cyclically adjusted primary balance.

On the basis of the first condition, we excluded from our analysis 7 studies² that include growth or similar measures (change in the output gap, difference between growth and trend

¹ We restricted our attention to the studies that focus on industrialized countries. The prominent role of EMU countries in the sample is also a reflection of the availability of the data.

² Fatás and Mihov, 2002; von Hagen, Hallett and Strauch, 2002; Hallerberg and Strauch, 2002; Lane, 2003; Melitz, 2000; Mink and De Haan, 2006; OECD, 2003.

growth) as indicators of cyclical conditions. The choice of the output gap *in levels* focuses on whether the position of the economy is above or below its trend (potential) level and on its distance from it, while the reference to growth or similar measures focuses on whether the economy is in an upturn or in a downturn and its intensity. It is outside the scope of this paper to judge which cyclical indicator is preferable.³ We restricted our attention to the first group of studies as they represent the majority view in the literature on this issue.⁴ On the basis of the second condition we excluded two studies,⁵ which rely on a different concept of discretionary action.

Even this set of 12 studies shows results that fully span the range of positions expressed in the whole literature. Table 1 reports, for each of these 12 studies, the indication concerning the sign and the symmetry of the reaction of discretionary policies to cyclical conditions and some characteristics of the specific regression we refer to.

There are many factors that could plausibly explain the differences in the results. The studies differ in several respects: the model of used policy decisions, the estimation procedures, the countries included in the sample, the analyzed periods of time, the sources of data (including different vintages of data from the same source).

In this paper we try to disentangle the relative role of these factors. However, we do not examine the role of slight variations in the specific countries included in the different samples. We base our analysis on data for a group of 11 EMU countries (only Luxembourg and Slovenia are excluded for lack of data).⁶

In Section 2 we assess the impact of the different choices in modelling fiscal behaviour. Abstracting from a number of specific characteristics pertaining to the individual analyses, in the 12 studies we find three basic specifications of the fiscal policy reaction function. We show that these three fiscal rules – which include among regressors only the initial conditions

³ Both indicators carry useful information. In our opinion, they largely complement each other.

⁴ The literature on the cyclicality of US budgetary policies generally focuses on the output gaps in levels or on similar indicators (Auerbach, 2002; Bohn, 1998; Cohen and Follette, 2003; Taylor, 2000).

⁵ Buti and van den Noord (2004) construct an indicator for discretionary policies which aims to control for errors in forecasting. Giuliodori and Beetsma (2006), in a paper largely devoted to gauge the relevance of fiscal policy interdipendence in the European Union, estimate a fiscal rule that uses real-time data for the regressors. Concerning the dependent variable, instead of focusing on the effects of actual policies (proxied by the change in the cyclically-adjusted primary balance, CAPB henceforth, measured *ex post*) the authors point out that the latter are "polluted" with the reactions to events that take place after the budget is finalized and focus on government plans (proxied by the OECD forecast one-year-ahead for the CAPB).

⁶ In Golinelli and Momigliano (2006) we find that the fiscal behaviour over the cycle of the group of OECD countries outside EMU for which data of sufficient time length are available (US, Japan, Australia, Canada, New Zealand, UK, Sweden and Denmark) is significantly different from that of EMU countries.

of public finances (debt and deficit) and the output gap – embody different notions of fiscal policy cyclicality and may lead to different interpretations of the policy behaviour. In our opinion, there is often insufficient awareness of these issues when the estimates of the output gap parameter of the different studies are used in the policy debate.⁷

In the following Sections 3-4 we focus on the first model, having shown that it is possible to approximately recover from its estimates those based on the other two models. In Section 3 we examine the impact of time period, source and type of data (real-time or *ex post*) on the estimates of the fiscal reaction to cyclical conditions. We estimate rolling regressions with a fixed 15-year window over the period 1978-2006 for four alternative datasets: three are based on *ex post* data sources (OECD, AMECO, OECD data for primary deficit and debt with Hodrick-Prescott filter estimates of the output gap) and the fourth largely on real-time data (taken from Golinelli and Momigliano, 2006), available only for the reduced 1988-2006 period. Results show that the different data sources, even within the *ex post* data sets, determine sizeable shifts in the estimates of the output gap parameter. Independently of the data source, a slight tendency towards a pro-cyclical (or a less counter-cyclical) behaviour emerges over time.

In Section 4 we examine the impact of the same factors (time period, source and type of data) on determining whether fiscal policies have been symmetrical or asymmetrical over the cycle. We find contrasting results, depending on both *ex post* data sources and sample periods. Results suggest that the asymmetric behaviour of the discretionary policy, when present, entails shifts in all the parameters of the rule and not only in the output gap parameter.

In Section 5 we extend the basic fiscal rule adding, when feasible, the additional variables found significant in the 12 studies we focus on. While there is a remarkable increase of the explanatory power of the model, the results broadly confirm the conclusions reached in Sections 3-4. The only important differences are the following: a) policy asymmetry is found for all data sources; b) the evidence of counter-cyclical behaviour with real-time data becomes clearer. Section 6 concludes.

⁷ The same modelling choices are also followed in other areas of the literature on fiscal policy behaviour, for example that focusing on developing countries.

2. Modelling choices

If we focus on the "core" components of the fiscal rule – the dependent variable and the initial conditions of public finances – in the restricted set of 12 studies, we find three basic specifications of fiscal behaviour. None of the three specifications do justice to the richness of the studies we review, which often devote large part of their attention to determinants different from cyclical conditions. Nevertheless the analysis of the three models contributes significantly, in our opinion, to understand why there is no consensus on this issue in the literature.

2.1 The three models

Most studies estimate what we call a "CAPB Model" fiscal rule, in which the discretionary fiscal action, measured by the change in the cyclically-adjusted primary balance (Δ CAPB),⁸ is explained by the initial state of public finances (measured by the cyclically adjusted primary balance and the debt of general government) and the cyclical conditions (measured by the level of the output gap):

$$\Delta \operatorname{CAPB}_{i\,t} = \phi^{C}_{capb} \operatorname{CAPB}_{i\,t-l} + \phi^{C}_{debt} \operatorname{DEBT}_{i\,t-l} + \phi^{C}_{gap} \operatorname{GAP}_{i\,(t \text{ or } t-l)} + u_{i\,t}$$
[1]

The stability of equation [1] requires that ϕ^{C}_{capb} be negative and ϕ^{C}_{debt} positive. A positive value of ϕ^{C}_{gap} indicates a counter-cyclical policy, while a negative value points to procyclicality. Some of the studies include the simultaneous output gap (*i.e.* at time *t*, the year in which budgetary actions have their effects); others include the lagged output gap (*i.e.* at time *t*-1, the year in which budgetary decisions are taken). The two variants of the CAPB Model (henceforth "CAPB-s Model" and "CAPB-I Model", respectively) lead to similar results (as we show in Section 3) since the values of the output gap are highly persistent.⁹ Finally, the

⁸ Some authors, among which Galí and Perotti (2003), use as dependent variable the level of the CAPB, instead of its change. This specification is equivalent to that of eq.[1], as it gives the same estimates for all coefficients except for that of the lagged dependent variable, for which its estimate is equal to 1 plus the estimate obtained with eq.[1]. It is largely a presentational issue, but we tend to prefer the specification in changes (eq. [1]) mainly because the explanatory power of the model and of the statistical significance of the coefficient of the lagged deficit are not artificially inflated by the component attributable to inertia (which, in turn, is largely an unexplained phenomenon).

⁹ The variable GAP_{*i t*-1} is a plausible alternative to GAP_{*it*}, as policy-makers may react to current cyclical conditions or use them to forecast cyclical conditions in the following year. The inertia and complexity of the decision-making process may also justify the reference to the lagged output gap. A purely statistical reason for preferring GAP_{*i*t-1} instead of GAP_{*i*t} is that the latter requires recourse to instrumental variables, as the output gap is affected by fiscal policy, which opens up a number of equally acceptable alternatives with potential effects on the results.

unobservable term $u_{it} = \mu_i + \lambda_t + \varepsilon_{it}$ may include (depending on the study) individual (μ_i), time (λ_t) and random (ε_{it}) components.

In a few studies authors estimate a broadly similar model, but assume that policy-makers react with a lag to the primary balance (PB $_{t-1}$) rather than to the cyclically adjusted primary balance (CAPB $_{t-1}$), as in the CAPB Model. Henceforth, we call this fiscal rule "CAPB/PB Model":

$$\Delta \operatorname{CAPB}_{it} = \phi^{C/P}_{pb} \operatorname{PB}_{it-1} + \phi^{C/P}_{idebt} \operatorname{DEBT}_{it-1} + \phi^{C/P}_{gap} \operatorname{GAP}_{i(t \text{ or } t-1)} + u_{it}$$
[2]

The CAPB Model and the CAPB/PB Model are probably equally plausible. The CAPB Model is consistent with a fiscal rule where automatic stabilizers are left to operate fully (as discretionary actions do not react with a lag to their impact on the balance). This policy indication is very common in policy documents at the European level, especially after 1997, when the Stability and Growth Pact was introduced. CAPB/PB Model may be seen as more realistic, as policy-makers may be more concerned with headline figures; moreover, especially in the 1970s and 1980s, data on cyclically-adjusted balances were not available and even the concept of cyclical adjustment was not widespread.

Finally, other studies, which essentially focus on the issue of asymmetry in budgetary reactions, adopt a fiscal rule in which, compared with the CAPB/PB Model, the dependent variable Δ CAPB_{*it*-1} is substituted by Δ PB_{*it*-1}¹⁰ Henceforth, we call this specification "**PB Model**":

$$\Delta PB_{it} = \phi_{pb}^{P} PB_{it-1} + \phi_{debt}^{P} \text{DEBT}_{it-1} + \phi_{gap}^{P} \text{GAP}_{i(t \text{ or } t-1)} + u_{it}$$
[3]

The PB Model assumes a behaviour of fiscal authorities significantly different from that of the other two models, as the policy decision (dependent variable) includes the effects of both the discretionary actions and the automatic stabilizers.¹¹ This is shown by identity [4], in which the primary balance is decomposed into the cyclically adjusted primary balance and in a

¹⁰ In the studies, the level of the PB, instead of its change, is used as dependent variable. As already mentioned in the case of the CAPB Model, this specification is equivalent to that of equation [3], as it gives the same estimates for all coefficients except for that of the lagged dependent variable, for which its estimate is equal to 1 plus the estimate obtained with equation [3].

¹¹ There is an important difference between CAPB and CAPB/PB Models on one side and the PB Model on the other concerning the dependent variable, which suggests more caution when interpreting the results of the PB Model in terms of behaviour of fiscal authorities when *ex post* data are used. In the CAPB and CAPB/PB Models it can be assumed that budget authorities are able to predict fairly accurately the effects of their discretionary actions, as the latter are in principle largely independent of cyclical conditions. In Model PB, instead, the change in the balance is not independent from the output gap.

cyclical component, equal to the product of the output gap and a coefficient ω_{it} capturing the effects of automatic stabilizers.

$$PB_{it} \equiv CAPB_{it} + \omega_{it}GAP_{it}$$
[4]

The results in these studies have been used to identify the cyclical reaction of discretionary policies by subtracting from the estimated coefficient of the output gap (ϕ_{gap}^{P}) an average value (ω) of the individual coefficients ω_{it} (which is generally assessed for the EMU countries at around 0.5; see Bouthevillain *et al.*, 2001).

$$\phi_{gap}^{P(discr)} \approx \phi_{gap}^{P} - \omega$$
[5]

The use of an average value is justified by evidence of a limited variability across countries and time of the coefficients capturing the effects of the automatic stabilizers (see, e.g., Girouard and André, 2006).

2.2 Estimating the three models

In Table 2a we present estimates of the coefficient of the output gap based on the three models for the two variants (which include, respectively, the simultaneous and the lagged output gap). As most of the reviewed studies, we use *ex post* data. The source is OECD for all data except for public debt; for this variable, as OECD data are incomplete, the source is the AMECO database.¹² The full 1978-2006 sample is used.

Since all specifications are dynamic panels and embody fixed country effects (μ_i), their parameters are estimated by one-step GMM-sys (see Blundell and Bond, 1998), using only a subset of the potentially available instrument matrix: the *t*-2 and *t*-3 lags of the debt, of the output gap and of the primary balance.¹³ The use of GMM-sys, compared to OLS, avoids estimation biases. Compared to other instrumental-variable estimators, such as the Arellano and Bond (1991) GMM-dif, GMM-sys is potentially less affected by the problem of weak instruments, *i.e.* scarcely correlated with the variables to be instrumented, as is typical with persistent data such as debt or the output gap (see Celasun and Kang, 2006, for a thorough

¹² Primary borrowing and debt are expressed as ratios of potential GDP.

¹³ Omitting from the instruments the more distant lags does usually entail a limited loss of information. On the other side, it has been often pointed out that using too many instruments can significantly reduce the power of the Sargan test in finite samples (see, e.g., Bond, 2002).

discussion of alternative estimators in the context of fiscal reaction functions).¹⁴ Our preference for GMM-sys is also supported by the results reported in the Appendix, where the performance of alternative estimators is reported.

Contrary to the most common practice of the reviewed studies, time effects (λ_t) are allowed (in all regressions presented in Table 2a they are found to be jointly significant). We include the time dummies (accounting for effects that are almost invariant to all countries and change over time) as, hopefully, they can reduce the omitted-variable bias stemming from the very simple specifications we are using.¹⁵

Four results stand out, which are largely independent of the sample used and the source of data:

- (a) The estimates of the cyclical reaction using the CAPB/PB Model tend to indicate a more counter-cyclical behaviour than those of the CAPB Model.
- (b) The estimates of the cyclical reaction based on the PB Model are relatively close to those of the other two models. This result is rather surprising. We would expect a large difference (close to 0.5) because the estimated coefficient of the PB Model should include, in principle, also the effects of automatic stabilizers.
- (c) The estimates of the parameters of the initial fiscal conditions (debt and deficit) are largely constant across the three models, notwithstanding the fact that only in the CAPB Model the lagged deficit is cyclically adjusted.
- (d) The estimates of almost all parameters are not significantly affected by the choice between the simultaneous and the lagged output gap (this emerges by comparing the coefficients in columns 1-3 with the corresponding ones in columns 4-6); the only (partial) exception is the estimate of the cyclical reaction measured by the PB Model.

Result (d), as already mentioned, reflects the high persistence of the output gap. In the following two sections we explain the other results.

¹⁴ In Hayakawa (2007), it is analytically shown that in finite samples GMM-sys is less biased than GMM-dif, even though it uses more instruments. However, as shown by the simulations reported in Bun and Kiviet (2006), the ranking of the alternative estimators depends on the specific model and characteristics of data.

¹⁵ Allowing time dummies determines a non-negligeable shift of all estimates of the cyclical reaction towards counter-cyclicality (Table 2a reports the results of the specifications without time dummies). We interpret this result, in line with the argument stated in the main text, as reflecting an omitted variable bias in the coefficient of the output gap. This interpretation is supported by the fact that broadly the same shift towards counter-cyclicality in the estimates of the cyclical reaction occurs when we add additional variables (see section 5).

2.3 Comparing Model CAPB and Model CAPB/PB

Starting from the CAPB-1 Model (*i.e.* equation [1], in the variant which includes the lagged output gap) we subtract and add $\phi^{C-l}_{capb} \omega_{i t-1} \text{ GAP}_{i t-1}$ on the right side of the expression. Using also identity [4], we obtain the following equation, in which the CAPB/PB-1 Model is expressed in terms of the CAPB-1 Model parameters:

$$\Delta \operatorname{CAPB}_{i\,t} = \phi^{C-l}_{capb} \operatorname{PB}_{i\,t-1} + \phi^{C-l}_{debt} \operatorname{DEBT}_{i\,t-1} + (\phi^{C-l}_{gap} - \phi^{C-l}_{capb} \times \omega_{i\,t-1}) \operatorname{GAP}_{i\,t-1} + u_{i\,t} \quad [6]$$

By comparing equation [6] with the CAPB/PB-1 Model (*i.e.* equation [2], in the variant which includes the lagged output gap), we identify the following three relationships between the parameters:

$$\phi^{C/P-l}{}_{pb} = \phi^{C-l}{}_{capb}$$
[7a]

$$\phi^{C/P-l}_{debt} = \phi^{C-l}_{debt}$$
[7b]

and, using also eq. [7a]:

$$\phi^{C/P-l}_{gap} \approx \phi^{C-l}_{gap} - (\phi^{C-l}_{capb} \times \omega) = \phi^{C-l}_{gap} - (\phi^{C/P-l}_{pb} \times \omega)$$
[7c]

The first two equivalences indicate that in the CAPB and CAPB/PB Models the effects of the initial fiscal conditions (notwithstanding the different choice regarding the balance) are measured by the same parameters. The third relationship, which is not exact because we substitute the time- and country-specific coefficients measuring the effects of the automatic stabilizers $\omega_{i t-1}$ with their average value ω , indicates that the reaction to cyclical conditions estimated in the CAPB/PB Model is approximately equal to ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} (which measures the estimate of the reaction in the CAPB Model) *minus* the product of ω and the coefficient for the lagged deficit.

This latter component is negative, since $\omega > 0$ (otherwise, the automatic budgetary reactions would be destabilizing) and $\phi^{C/P-l}_{pb} = \phi^{C-l}_{capb} < 0$ (otherwise, we would observe exploding deficits). Therefore, the estimates of the coefficient of the output gap in the CAPB/PB-1 Model are systematically more counter-cyclical than those obtained using the CAPB-1 Model. On the basis of the estimated parameters of the regression for the CAPB/PB-1 Model in Table 2a, the difference stemming from the modelling choice is 0.08, about twice the standard deviation of the estimate for the coefficient. A similar difference can be found when comparing the CAPB-s Model with the CAPB/PB-s Model.

The explanation of the result obtained above is rather intuitive. Compared to the CAPB Model, in the CAPB/PB Model discretionary policies react to the lagged effects of the

automatic stabilizers on the budget (with the same coefficient of their reaction to the lagged cyclically-adjusted deficit). This additional reaction, which is stabilizing with respect to public finances, is pro-cyclical and determines (compared to the CAPB Model) a corresponding shift towards counter-cyclicality in the estimate of the coefficient of the output gap.

Summing up, CAPB and CAPB/PB Models are basically a re-parameterization of one another (as such, data cannot discriminate between them) and lead to different estimates only for the parameter of the output gap. The differences in the latter can be attributed to a different notion of cyclicality (net or gross of the reaction to the lagged effects of automatic stabilizers). In the lower part of Table 2a we present the estimate of ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} obtained using the parameters estimated with the CAPB/PB Model and the approximated relationship [7c]. The results are almost identical to the estimates based on the CAPB Model, suggesting that the relationship is validated by actual data.

2.4 Interpreting the cyclical reaction parameter in Model PB

We add to both sides of the CAPB/PB-s Model (*i.e.* eq. [2] in the variant that includes the simultaneous output gap) the effects of the automatic stabilizers ($\Delta [\omega_{i t} \text{ GAP}_{i t}]$). Using also identity [4], we obtain the following equation:

$$\Delta PB_{it} = \phi^{C/P}_{pb} PB_{it-1} + \phi^{C/P}_{idebt} DEBT_{it-1} + (\phi^{C/P}_{gap} + \omega_{it-1}) GAP_{it} - \omega_{it} GAP_{it-1} + u_{it}$$
[8]

Eq. [8] differs from the PB-s Model by the presence of the last term ($-\omega_{it} \text{ GAP}_{it-1}$). It shows that if we could omit that term, directly estimating the discretionary cyclical reaction in the CAPB/PB-s Model would be approximately equivalent to subtracting ω from the estimate of the cyclical reaction in the PB-s Model (the two alternatives are not exactly equivalent because we treat ω as a constant).

We can disregard the last term of eq. [8] only if we can assume that it is uncorrelated with all the other regressors. However, the very notion of economic cycle implies the correlation over time of the output gap. If we assume the autocorrelation coefficient $\rho = 1$, so that $GAP_{it} = GAP_{it-1} + v_{it}$ and $\omega_{it} = \omega_{it-1}$, we obtain the following equation:

$$\Delta PB_{it} = \phi^{C/P}_{pb} PB_{it-1} + \phi^{C/P}_{i\,debt} DEBT_{it-1} + (\phi^{C/P}_{gap}) GAP_{it} + u_{it}$$
[9]

Eq. [9] shows that under these assumptions the estimate of the output gap parameter of the CAPB/PB-s Model is identical to that of the PB-s Model.¹⁶

As noted, the output gap is highly persistent, with values of the autocorrelation coefficient ρ for the different data sources ranging between 0.8 and 0.9. This behaviour (a *quasi* random walk) intuitively explains our findings in section 2.2 that the estimates of the cyclical reaction in the PB model are relatively close to those of the CAPB/PB Model.

Sustituting GAP_{*i*t} with ρ GAP_{*i*t-1}, with a few simple manipulations we can obtain approximate relationships between the parameters of the PB Model and those of the CAPB Model. The effects of the initial fiscal conditions are measured by approximately the same parameters (an exact equivalence was found in section 2.3 for the CAPB and CAPB/PB models). The approximate relationship between the coefficients measuring the reaction to cyclical conditions (for the variants which includes the lagged output gap) is the following:

$$\phi_{gap}^{P-l} \approx \phi_{gap}^{C-l} - (\phi_{pb}^{P-l} \times \omega) + ((1-\rho) \times \omega)$$
[10]

In the lower part of Table 2a we present the estimate of ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} obtained using the parameters estimated with the PB Model and eq. [10]. As in the similar exercise described in section 2.3, the results are very close to the estimate based on the CAPB Model, suggesting that eq. [10] is validated by actual data.

Summing up, if the output gap has low autocorrelation the estimate of the output gap parameter of the PB Model differs from that of the CAPB/PB Model by approximately the value of ω . The two estimates are therefore consistent, taking into account eq. [5]. If the output gap has high autocorrelation, which is our case, the two estimates are instead relatively close. In this case, using eq. [5] (*i.e.* subtracting ω from the PB Model estimate) leads to a large difference in the cyclical reaction attributed to discretionary policy, with the PB Model suggesting a much more pro-cyclical (or a much less counter-cyclical) policy than the CAPB/PB Model (or the CAPB Model). The difference can be as large as 0.5, or twelve times the standard deviation of the estimates.

The assessment of the cyclical reaction of discretionary policies based on the PB Model and eq. [5] can be considered as reflecting a third notion of cyclicality.

¹⁶ If the output gap behaves as a random walk, adding (or subtracting) the effects of the automatic stabilizers from the dependent variable has no impact on the estimates because in that case $\Delta (\omega_{it} \text{ GAP}_{it})$ collapses into the unpredictable noise vit, which simply inflates the random component u_{it} .

It is hard to judge, and it is outside the scope of this paper, whether the PB model is a better description of policy choices than the other two. In particular, there is no clear difference in the performance of the three models (as shown in Table 2a) and all lack a fully satisfactory theoretical underpinning. Nevertheless, the first two models appear to be more direct solutions for the specific aim of gauging the cyclicality of discretionary policies and they are used in most of the works covered in our review of the literature. We therefore use the notions of cyclicality embodied in them in assessing the empirical results in the rest of the paper.

3. Time periods and sources of data

In this section we assess to what extent the estimates of the fiscal rule depend on the source of data (OECD against European Commission, henceforth EC), on the data vintage (*ex post* against real-time), and on the estimation period. We focus on the CAPB Model. In the initial part of the analysis we provide additional evidence of the broad equivalence between the results based on the CAPB-s and CAPB-l Models. Henceforth, we present results only for the CAPB-l Model. We include, when jointly significant, fixed time effects.

To avoid repetitions we do not estimate the CAPB/PB and PB Models. The results for these models are approximately equal to those of the CAPB Model for all parameters except for the one assessing the cyclical reaction. To recover the estimates of the output gap parameter of the CAPB/PB-1 Model, (using the approximate relationship [7c]) those of the CAPB-1 Model need to be shifted upward (toward counter-cyclicality) by approximately 0.1. As for the PB-1 Model, the estimates of the coefficient (using the approximate relationship [10]) tend to be in an intermediate position between those of the other two models.¹⁷

Figure 1a compares across different samples (obtained by rolling regressions with a fixed window of 15 years over 1978-2006) the GMM-sys estimated (see Section 2.2) parameters using the CAPB-s Model with those using the CAPB-1 Model, obtained with OECD *ex post* data. In this figure, four graphs are reported. The two in the upper row and the one in the lower left-hand allow us to assess the estimates of the parameters of, respectively, the lagged deficit (upper-left), the lagged debt (upper-right), and the output gap (lower-left).

¹⁷ As for the variants with simoultaneos output gap, there is approximately the same difference (0.1) between the coefficient of the CAPB Model and the CAPB/PB Model, while the estimate of the coefficient of the PB Model tend to be close to that of the CAPB/PB Model.

The points of each graph are marked with labels indicating the model used in the estimation (CAPB-s or CAPB-l). Each point corresponds to an estimate obtained over the sub-sample ending in the year indicated on the horizontal axis and starting 15 years before. For each estimation period, the 95% confidence interval of the estimate obtained with the CAPB-s Model is plotted. The confidence interval shown in the lower right-hand graph is an average of the two confidence intervals based on the CAPB-s and CAPB-l Models; it is centred on zero: approximately, the ϕ^{4}_{gap} point estimates falling inside this zero-interval are not significantly different from zero.

As we found in Tables 2a and 2b, the estimated parameters of both lagged deficit and debt, plotted, respectively, in the first row of graphs, are indistinguishable. The ϕ^{C}_{gap} point estimates of the CAPB-1 Model (in the lower left-hand graph) are always relatively close to those of the CAPB-s Model and fall well inside their confidence interval. This supports the view (based on the high persistence of the output gap) that the two variants are interchangeable. Finally, in the lower right-hand graph, ϕ^{C}_{gap} estimates with the CAPB-s and CAPB-1 Models both fall inside the average 95% confidence interval, indicating that by using *ex post* OECD data the hypothesis of an a-cyclical policy cannot be rejected for all periods.

Figures 1b-1d compare the CAPB-1 Model parameter estimates across different samples (again obtained by rolling regressions with a fixed 15 year window) for four different data sources: OECD *ex post* data (labelled OECD), OECD *ex post* data for fiscal variables and estimates of the output gap based on *ex post* GDP and the Hodrick-Prescott filter (labelled HP), AMECO *ex post* data (labelled EC) and the real-time data computed in Momigliano and Golinelli (2006) on the basis of various issues of the OECD Economic Outlook (labelled RT).¹⁸ Due to data unavailability, the starting point of the estimates based on real-time data is 1988, which corresponds to 2002 as final year. The structure of Figures 1b-1c is the same as the one for Figure 1a. Figure 1d focuses only on the parameter estimates of the cyclical reaction.

From Figures 1b-1c it emerges that the ϕ_{capb} and ϕ_{debt} point estimates are not statistically different for all samples and across different data sources and vintages. Instead, differences emerge for ϕ^{C-s}_{gap} point estimates. As shown in Figure 1d, OECD and HP based estimates suggest an a-cyclical behaviour; EC and RT estimates point to a weak, generally not significant, counter-cyclicality. To translate these results in terms of the notion of cyclicality

¹⁸ As OECD data for public debt are incomplete, for this variable we always use AMECO data.

embodied in the CAPB/PB Model, all ϕ^{C-s}_{gap} estimates would need to be shifted upwards (towards counter-cyclicality) by approximately 0.1. In this case, most EC and RT estimates would become significant.

As the sample moves forward over time, excluding the furthest years and including the most recent ones, the estimates shift slightly in the direction of pro-cyclicality. This result contrasts with other papers, which find a shift from pro-cyclicality to a-cyclicality after the Maastricht Treaty (Wyplosz, 2006; IMF, 2004; Galí and Perotti, 2003).

In Table 3 we report the estimation results of the CAPB-I Model over the fixed 1988-2006 period¹⁹ for the four different data sources and vintages. In all cases, the usual over-identifying restrictions and residuals' autocorrelation tests are always largely not rejected, while the time effects are always significant. The results broadly confirm the indications emerging from Figures 1a-1d.

Summing up, the results included in this section suggest the following remarks.

The significance of the fixed time effects is a common feature in all cases under scrutiny. This fact highlights the need of always including them in order to prevent biased estimates due to the omission of relevant factors influencing all countries at the same time (e.g. fluctuations in the prices of stocks and oil).

Independently of model, sample period, data source and vintage, the initial fiscal conditions (lagged borrowing and debt) always matter. This evidence suggests caution when using inferences on the cyclical response of fiscal policies based on models omitting these two regressors.

Findings about cyclical conditions do not enjoy a comparable robustness. Point estimates of the cyclical reaction of discretionary policies tend to be influenced (and the sign reversed) by the use of alternative data sources and/or vintages. The sample selection is generally less important. The overall picture is that of a-cyclicality or weak counter-cyclicality in *ex post* data and counter-cyclicality (significant with the CAPB/PB Model and not significant with the CAPB Model) with real-time data.

¹⁹ The period 1988-2006 corresponds to the largest sample available for real-time data.

4. **Policy asymmetries**

Two approaches can be followed when testing for asymmetries in fiscal behaviour. The sample can be split into two sub-samples (corresponding to "good" and "bad" times) and two distinct sets of estimates for the parameters of the fiscal rule are obtained. Alternatively, only the ϕ_{gap} parameter can be allowed to vary across the two states of nature. In what follows, we refer to the practice of splitting the sample as the "two-sample approach" (2SA) and to that of splitting only the ϕ_{gap} parameter as the "two-parameter approach" (2PA).

The first approach (2SA) is more general. If all parameters change across states, 2SA leads to consistent and efficient estimates of all the parameter shifts, while 2PA estimates are biased and inconsistent. If only the parameter ϕ_{gap} shifts, 2SA leads to still consistent but inefficient estimates, while 2PA is consistent and efficient.

In order to conduct efficient inferences with a parsimonious model without imposing invalid symmetry restrictions to ϕ_{capb} and ϕ_{debt} parameters and to the deterministic components of the model, we follow two sequential steps. First, the sample is split, following 2SA, and the joint significance of the shifts between states of nature in all model parameters except ϕ_{gap} is assessed. Second, if the null (*i.e.* parameters are symmetrical) of the previous test is rejected, the symmetry of the policy reaction to the economic cycle is assessed with the same test but including all model parameters. If the null is not rejected, the more efficient 2PA is carried out, and the symmetry of the policy reaction to the economic cycle is assessed by testing for the significance of the ϕ_{gap} shift between "good" and "bad" times.

In Figure 2a we present the results for the CAPB-1 Model²⁰ of these two sequential steps across data sources and vintages and sample periods. In the upper part, we show whether the null of symmetry of all model parameters except ϕ_{gap} is rejected (black boxes) or not (grey boxes). In the lower part we show whether the null of policy rule symmetry is rejected (black boxes) or not (grey boxes) or not (grey boxes) by using the most appropriate approach (either 2SA or 2PA, depending on the outcome of the upper part). The two diagrams are identical, indicating that,

²⁰ CAPB-1 and CAPB/PB-1 Models have the advantage, over CAPB-s and CAPB/PB-s Models, of avoiding the risk of biased parameter estimates linked to an endogenous selection of good and bad times. In fact, in order to split either the whole sample or only the gap parameter, a zero-one indicator variable I_{it} must be defined. When the cyclical indicator is the output gap in levels, the usual practice is to set $I_{it} = 1$ if GAP_{it} > 0 ("good times"), and $I_{it} = 0$ if GAP_{it} ≤ 0 ("bad times"). However, this selection risks being endogenous, given the possible simultaneity between the idiosyncratic policy shock ε_{it} (see equations [1] to [3] of Section 2) and the actual GAP_{it} realisation that drives I_{it} . If such endogeneity occurs, the selection based on the sign of the output gap at time t entails biased parameter estimates.

if the first test is not rejected, asymmetry in the cyclical reaction is never found and, if the first test is rejected, asymmetry for all parameters, including ϕ_{gap} , is always found. In other terms, when asymmetry exists, it always depends on a general shift in parameters of the rule and not on a specific shift of ϕ_{gap} . Indeed, when we restrict our attention to the final ϕ_{gap} parameters, independently of the result of the first test, they are never significantly different. This is shown for the specific period 1988-2006 in Table 4. Another indication emerging from Figure 2a is that the answer to whether policies are symmetrical or asymmetrical varies, with *ex post* information, across data sources and time periods. With real-time data, the indication is of symmetrical behaviour.

Figure 2b plots the differences between the ϕ^{C}_{gap} parameter in good and bad times. Though not significant, such differences are aways positive in all the samples ending later than 1995. A similar indication is also conveyed by the analysis of the constant term across states of nature. These results seem at odds the usual interpretation of asymmetry, *i.e.* that it arises because government action is pro-cyclical in good times.²¹

In order to give an insight into the level of the alternative ϕ^{C}_{gap} estimates, Figure 2b also reports two splines representing the yearly average of the ϕ^{C}_{gap} parameters in good and bad times for the three sources of *ex post* data (from 1992) and for real-time data (from 2002).

To integrate the analysis carried out in Figures 2a and 2b, in Table 4 we report the GMM-sys estimates of the CAPB-I Model for four alternative data sources and vintages over the same 1988-2006 period. For each source the final outcome of the general-to-specific procedure outlined above is reported. If 2SA is appropriate, the estimates are reported in two columns (for good and bad times), while if 2PA proves to be valid, a single column suffices.

The lower part of Table 4, at the "no-switch" row, reports the p-value of the test whose null admits the restriction from 2SA to 2PA. Results clearly reject the null with EC data and with HP data.²² Results with OECD and RT, instead, do not reject 2PA as a valid reduction of 2SA. Alone, the shift in the output gap effect is never the main cause of symmetry rejection, as shown by high p-values of the "no-shift" hypothesis, never rejected in the last row of the table.

Results in the upper part of Table 4 confirm the findings of Section 3: the data source affects the estimates of the policy reaction to cyclical conditions. With OECD and HP the policy is weakly a-cyclical, while with EC and RT it is weakly counter-cyclical.

²¹ See European Commission (2006).

²² The lack of significance of time effects in good times and their significance in bad times may contribute to the no-switch rejection with EC and OECD-HP.

5. Extending the "core" model

In Sections 2-4 we abstracted from a number of specific variables included in our sample of 12 studies, in order to focus on what we called "core" components of the fiscal rule – the dependent variable and the initial conditions of public finances. In this Section we add, when feasible, the additional variables used and found significant in this group of studies. The aim is to understand, in a common framework, how important these variables are and to what extent they modify the conclusions reached in Sections 3-4.

In this version of the paper, we are able to include, in addition to the variables used in the regressions presented in Table 4, four groups of explanatory variables. First, in order to capture the impact of European fiscal rules on the behaviour of the countries in excessive deficit, we introduce a regressor, ϕ_m (referred to as the *Maastricht variable*) which defines a benchmark correction of the primary balance which is essentially a function of the excessive deficit and the number of years in which the latter needs to be eliminated.²³ Second, the relevance of the electoral cycle is assessed by using three dummy variables. They are equal to 1, respectively, in the year of regular elections (ϕ_{e1}), defined as those held at the end of a full term, in the year before (ϕ_{e2}) , and in the year of unexpected (snap) elections (ϕ_{e3}) .²⁴ Third, the ex ante real interest rate (measured by the nominal three-month interest rate minus the expected rate of inflation) is addedd in order to allow for the interaction of fiscal and monetary policies. In fact, this variable (labelled ϕ_{monpol}) can be considered as a simple proxy of the monetary conditions under the assumption that central banks control short-term interest rates (see, e.g., Faini, 2006). Finally, two dummy variables, for "commitment states" and "delegation states" (ϕ_{com} and ϕ_{del}), refer to a well known classification of budgetary institutions (as set out in Hallerberg, 2004), and a synthetic indicator (ϕ_{rule}) captures the overall set of national-level numerical fiscal rules.²⁵

²³ The Maastricht variable is set equal to zero in the years before 1992 or if the deficit is below the 3% threshold. For the years 1992-96, it is equal to the difference between the deficit and 3% of GDP, divided by the number of years leading up to 1997 and then reduced by the expected change in interest expenditure in the following year. After 1996, the provisions of the Stability and Growth Pact (in principle, also of its 2005 version) require countries to correct an excessive deficit in the year after its official recognition, which usually occurs with a one-year lag. Therefore, in the first year that an excessive deficit occurs, the excess deficit is divided by the constant 2 and, in the following years, by one. See Golinelli and Momigliano (2006) for further details.

²⁴ Details concerning the election dummies are in Golinelli and Momigliano (2006).

²⁵ We wish to thank Alessandro Turrini and Laurent Moulin for kindly supplying the data concerning the overall index used in the regression. For information concerning the original source and the aggregation methodology, see Ayuso-i-Casals *et al.* (2007).

Table 5 presents a set of estimates analogous to that of Table 4, but includes the additional variables mentioned above. The results broadly confirm the conclusions drawn on the basis of Table 4. The main differences are:

- (a) The evidence of asymmetric fiscal behaviour becomes stronger; the null of policy symmetry is rejected for all data sources.
- (b) We find large asymmetries (often individually significant) in the coefficients of many of the additional explanatory variables. This strengthens the conclusion, already reached on the basis of the "core" model, that the asymmetric cyclical effects operate through a general shift of the model parameters.
- (c) The evidence of counter-cyclical behaviour with real-time data becomes clearer.
- (d) The (stabilizing) reaction to the lagged debt with *ex post* data is weaker.
- (e) Time effects are less significant (except for the results with real-time data).

Overall, though the inclusion of eight additional parameters in the splitted samples may entail some inefficient estimates, there is a remarkable increase of the explanatory power of the enriched rule, as documented by the increase of about 20-30% in all the measures of goodness-of-fit. In order to improve the readability of the results, Table 5 reports in bold the estimates that are 10% significantly different to zero. The increase to 10% of the significance level of the t-tests tries to take in account the loss of efficiency due to the inclusion in the model of a number of (possibly) irrelevant explanatory variables. We refrained from "finetuning" the model specifications to allow full comparability between the enlarged specification adopted in this section with the "core" model used above.

More in detail, the significance of the inclusion of the regular electoral dummies (prevalently affecting policies in good times) is warranted by the results of a joint test for the presence of an electoral cycle; this finding is independent from the data used. Snap elections seem to exert some relevant effects only using *ex post* data.

The *Maastricht variable* is significant only in case of bad times; however, the limited number of cases of excess deficit in good times does not allow for valid inferences.²⁶ Table 6 reports the detail about data availability in good and bad times. Note that negative estimates of the Maastricht variable parameter suggest that a country in excess of deficit further adjusts its

²⁶ The same can be said for the snap elections. Note also that the shift towards counter-cyclicality would also emerge by simply adding the Maastricht variable, alone, to the "core" model.

finances with respect to what would be implied by the parameters of the fiscal initial conditions.

The estimates of the parameter measuring the effect of the monetary policy stance vary in significance across different sources of data. The prevalently negative sign suggests (as in IMF, 2004 and in Galí and Perotti, 2003) that fiscal and monetary policies are substitutes: when monetary policy is tight, discretionary fiscal policy loosens with respect to what it would otherwise be. The small magnitude of the estimates implies that the fiscal policy is only a very slight substitute for monetary policy.

The results for the variables capturing the role exerted by budgetary institutions and fiscal rules seem to suggest that "commitment" strategies may be relatively more successful in solving the common pool problem inherent in budget preparation, but only in bad times.

6. Conclusions

Whether discretionary fiscal policies act counter- or pro-cyclically and whether their reaction is symmetric or asymmetric over the cycle are still largely unsettled questions. The different results obtained by the empirical literature may in principle depend on the model of policy decisions used, the estimation procedures adopted, the countries included in the sample, the periods of time analyzed, or the source of data selected (including different vintages of data from the same source).

In this paper we restrict our attention to a subset of relatively homogeneous papers presenting econometric evidence on the euro-area countries and assess the role of all the factors mentioned above in a common empirical context in order to disentangle their relevance.

In the first part of the paper we assess the impact of different choices in modelling fiscal behaviour. We focus on the "core" components of the fiscal rule – the dependent variable and the initial conditions of public finances – finding in the studies reviewed three basic specifications of fiscal behaviour. We show that these fiscal rules – whose regressors are only the initial conditions of public finances (debt and deficit) and the output gap – lead to significant differences in the estimates of the parameter measuring the reaction to cyclical conditions. In particular, comparing the first model (CAPB) – used in most empirical studies – with the second (CAPB/PB), the latter suggests a more countercyclical behaviour. The

difference can be ascribed to the different notions of fiscal policy cyclicality embodied in the fiscal rules (net or gross of the reaction to the lagged effects of automatic stabilizers).

For the third model (PB), the assessment of the cyclical reaction of discretionary policies based on eq. [5] reflects a third notion of cyclicality. Such an assessment, depending on the characteristics of the series of the output gap, may give results entirely different from those based on the first or second model.

This part of the paper shows the need for extreme caution in comparing empirical results based on different models. In our opinion, there is often insufficient awareness of these issues when the estimates of the output gap parameter of the different studies are used in the policy debate.

In the second part of the paper we focus on the first of the three models and examine the impact of time period and source of data on the estimates. In particular, we estimate rolling regressions with a fixed window of 15 years over the period 1978-2006 for four alternative datasets: three of them are based on *ex post* data sources and the fourth largely on real-time data, available only for the reduced 1988-2006 period. The results suggest that:

- a) The different data sources have sizeable effects on the estimates of the reaction of fiscal policy to cyclical conditions. In particular, *ex post* data from AMECO and real time data indicate weakly counter-cyclical policies while the other *ex post* data sources broadly suggest a-cyclicality. Overall, we do not find support for the frequently upheld notion of pro-cyclical fiscal policies.²⁷
- b) Independently of the data source we use, a slight tendency towards more pro-cyclical (or less counter-cyclical) behaviour emerges over time. This result contrasts with other papers, which find a shift from pro-cyclicality to a-cyclicality after the Maastricht Treaty (Wyplosz, 2006; IMF, 2004; Galí and Perotti, 2003).
- c) The effect of the fiscal initial conditions (lagged debt and deficit) on policies is strongly significant. This evidence suggests caution when using inferences on the cyclical response of fiscal policies based on models omitting these regressors.
- d) Testing for asymmetries in fiscal behaviour, we find contrasting results, depending on both *ex post* data sources and sample periods. We also find that the asymmetric behaviour

²⁷ An example is the following statements, from OECD (2007): "Fiscal policy has not contributed to stabilising the cycle in the euro area. When the economy was above potential at the start of the decade several fiscal authorities did not allow the automatic stabilizers to operate fully as they used cyclical tax receipts to finance tax cuts and expenditure increases...[]More systematic investigations using longer time series confirm the observation that fiscal policy tends to act pro-cyclically in euro area countries".

of the discretionary policy, when present, entails shifts in all the parameters of the rule and not only in the output gap parameter.

In the final part of the paper we extend the basic model to include the additional variables found significant in the group of studies we reviewed. This was possible only for some regressors, due to data limitations. This extension determines a substantial increase in the explanatory power, but the conclusions reached on the basis of the "core" fiscal reaction function are generally confirmed. The only important differences are that policy asymmetry is now found for all data sources and that the evidence of counter-cyclical behaviour with real time data is clearer.

References

- Annett, A. (2006), "Enforcement and the Stability and Growth Pact: How Fiscal Policy Did and Did Not Change Under Europe's Fiscal Framework", *IMF Working Paper*, No. 116.
- Arellano, M. and S. Bond (1991), "Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations", *Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 58, pp. 277-97.
- Attanasio, O.P., L. Picci and A.E. Scorcu (2000), "Saving, Growth and Investment: A Macroeconomic Analysis Using a Panel of Countries", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 82, No. 2, pp. 182-211.
- Auerbach, A.J. (2002), "Is There a Role for Discretionary Fiscal Policy?", paper presented at the conference sponsored by the Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City *Rethinking Stabilization Policy*, Jackson Hole, August.
- Ayuso-i-Casals, J., D. Gonzales Hernandez, L. Moulin and A. Turrini (2007), "Beyond the SGP. Features and Effects of EU National-level Fiscal Rules", paper presented at 9th Banca d'Italia Workshop on Public Finance, Perugia, 29-31 March.
- Balassone, F. and M. Francese (2004), "Cyclical Asymmetry in Fiscal Policy, Debt Accumulation and the Treaty of Maastricht", Bank of Italy, *Temi di Discussione*, No. 531.
- Ballabriga, F. and C. Martinez-Mongay (2002), "Has EMU Shifted Policy?", *Economic Papers of the European Commission*, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, No. 166.
- Blundell, R.W. and S. Bond (1998), "Initial Conditions and Moment Restrictions in Dynamic Panel Data Models", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 87, pp. 115-43.

(1999), "GMM Estimates with Persistent Panel Data: An Application to Production Functions", *IFS Working Paper*, No. W99/4.

- Bohn, H. (1998), "The Behavior of U.S. Public Debt and Deficits", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 113, No. 3, pp. 949-63.
- Bond, S. (2002), "Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide to Micro Data Methods and Practice", *Cemmap Working Paper*, No. CWP09/02.
- Bouthevillain, C., P. Cour-Thimann, G. van den Dool, P. Hernandez de Cos, G. Langenus, M. Mohr, S. Momigliano and M. Tujula (2001), "Cyclically Adjusted Budget Balances; An Alternative Approach", *European Central Bank Working Paper*, No. 77.
- Brunila, A. and C. Martinez-Mongay (2002), "Fiscal Policy in the Early Years of EMU", in M. Buti and A. Sapir (eds.), *EMU and Economic Policy in Europe*, Edward Elgar, UK and USA.
- Bun, M.J.G. and J.F. Kiviet (2006), "The Effects of Dynamic Feedbacks on LS and MM Estimator Accuracy in Panel Data Models", *Journal of Econometrics*, Vol. 132, pp. 409-44.
- Buti, M and P. van den Noord (2004), "Fiscal Policies in EMU: Rules, Discretion and Political Incentives", *European Economy*, Economic Papers, No. 2006, European Commission.

- Celasun O. and J. S. Kang (2006), "On the Properties of Various Estimators for Fiscal Reaction Functions", *IMF Working Paper*, No. WP/06/182.
- CEPII (2005), "Has the Stability and Growth Pact Made Fiscal Policy More Pro-cyclical?", *La Lettre du CEPII*, No. 247.
- Cohen, D. and G. Follette (2003), "Forecasting Exogenous Fiscal Variables in the United States", paper presented at the Public Finance Workshop in Seville, Spain, October.
- Debrun, X. and M.S. Kumar (2006), "The Discipline-enhancing Role of Fiscal Institutions: Theory and Empirical Evidence", paper prepared for the conference organized by the European Commission on *The Role of National Fiscal Rules and Institutions in Shaping Budgetary Outcomes*, Bruxelles, 24 November.
- European Commission (2001), "Public Finance in EMU 2001", *European Economy*, Reports and Studies, No. 3.
 - (2006), "Public Finance in EMU 2006 Part IV, Fiscal Policy in Good Times", *European Economy*, Reports and Studies, No. 3.
- Faini, R. (2006), "Fiscal Policy and Interest Rates in Europe", *Economic Policy*, July, pp. 444-89.
- Fatás, A. and I. Mihov (2002), "Fiscal Policy and EMU: Challenges of the Early Years", in *EMU and Economic Policy in Europe The Challenge of the Early Years*, Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Forni, L. and S. Momigliano (2004), "Cyclical Sensitivity of Fiscal Policies Based on Real-Time Data", *Applied Economics Quarterly*, Vol. 50, No. 3.
- Galí, J. and R. Perotti (2003), "Fiscal Policy and Monetary Integration in Europe", *Economic Policy*, No. 37, October.
- Girouard, N. and C. André (2006), "Measuring Cyclically-adjusted Budget Balances for OECD Countries", in Banca d'Italia, *Fiscal indicators*, papers presented at 8th Banca d'Italia Workshop on Public Finance, Perugia, 30 March-1 April.
- Giuliodori, M. and R. Beetsma (2006), "On the Relatioship between Fiscal Plans in the European Union: An Empirical Analysis Based on Real-time Data", paper presented at the Conference *Fiscal Policy Challenges in Europe*, organized by the German Ministry of Finance and ZEW, Berlin, 22-23 March.
- Golinelli, R. and S. Momigliano (2006), "Real-time Determinants of the Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area", *Journal of Policy Modeling*, Vol. 28, pp. 943-64.
- von Hagen, J., A.H. Hallett and R. Strauch (2002), "Quality and Success of Budgetary Consolidation", in M. Buti, C. Martinez-Mongay and J. von Hagen (eds.), *The Behavior of Fiscal Authorities Stabilization, Growth and Institutions*, Palgrave.
- Hallerberg, M. (2004), Domestic Budgets in a United Europe: Fiscal Governance from the End of Bretton Woods to EMU, Cornell University Press.
- Hallerberg, M. and R. Strauch (2002), "On the Cyclicality of Public Finances in Europe", *Empirica*, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 183-207.
- Hayakawa, K. (2007), "Small Sample Bias Properties of the System GMM Estimator in Dynamic Panel Data Models", *Economics Letters*, Vol. 95, pp. 32-38.

IMF (2004), World Economic Outlook, No. 74, September.

- Judson, R.A. and A.L. Owen (1999), "Estimating Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide for Macroeconomists", *Economic Letters*, Vol. 65, No. 1, pp. 9-15.
- Lane, R.L. (2003), "The Cyclical Behaviour of Fiscal Policy: Evidence from the OECD", *Journal of Public Economics*, Vol. 87.
- Mélitz, J. (2000), "Some Cross-country Evidence About Fiscal Policy Behaviour and Consequences for EMU", *European Economy*, No. 2.
- Mink, M. and J. de Haan (2006), "Are There Political Budget Cycles in the Euro Area?", *European Union Politics*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 191-211.
- Nickell, S. (1981), "Biases in Dynamic Models with Fixed Effects", *Econometrica*, Vol. 49, No. 6, pp. 1417-26.
- OECD (2003), "Fiscal Stance over the Cycle: Evidence from Panel Analysis", Appendix, *Economic Outlook*, No. 74.
 - (2007), "Euro Area", OECD Economic Surveys.
- Taylor, J.B. (2000), "Reassessing Discretionary Fiscal Policy", Journal of Economic Perspectives, Vol. 14, No. 3.
- Wyplosz (2006), "European Monetary Union: The Dark Sides of a Major Success", *Economic Policy*, April, pp. 208-261.

Appendix Results based on GMM-sys and alternative estimators

GMM estimators are typically used to obtain consistent parameter estimates in the context of dynamic single equations with panel data. However, GMM may be subject to large finite-sample biases when available instruments are weak (see e.g. Bond, 2002). Specifically, this problem occurs using GMM-dif when data are highly persistent.

All variables used in the core specifications of our study show relevant persistence: the autoregressive parameters of primary balance, output gap and debt are in the range 0.7-0.9 (details are available upon request). Therefore, we expect that pooled OLS, whithin-groups and GMM-dif estimates be biased. In particular, Blundell and Bond (1998) suggests that the lagged dependent variable parameter OLS estimate is likely to be upward biased, while the within group and GMM-dif estimates are likely to be downwards biased. As a consequence, also the other parameter estimates (*i.e.* those of the output gap and the debt) will be biased in a direction that depends on the covariances of model variables.

Table A1 reports the estimates of the CAPB-s Model using the following approaches: GMM-sys, pooled OLS, within group and GMM-dif.²⁸ Data used are *ex post* measures. All GMM estimates are one-step, which is a standard practice in the empirical literature in view of the very modest efficiency gains from two-step estimators and of the lower reliability of their asymptotic distribution approximations. Regarding the choice of the instruments, GMM estimates in the columns 5-8 use the subset spanned by lags from *t*–2 to *t*–3 (the same as that used in Tables 2a and 2b), while columns 9-12 report estimates from the alternative subset spanned by lags from *t*–2 to *t*–4.

The validity of the additional moment conditions exploited by GMM-sys with respect to GMM-dif is subject to the condition that the means of the relevant series be constant within each country. This assumption is more acceptable in models with time effects, as their presence entails means that are constant once the series are expressed as deviations from period-specific averages, *i.e.* that the country-means evolve over time in a common way. This is another reason to add the time dummies in our models, beyond those given in the main text. Estimation results in Table A1 are in line with the main predictions found in the literature, see e.g. Blundell and Bond (1998) and Bond (2002). In fact, pooled OLS present the highest estimate of the autoregressive parameter (defined as $\phi_{capb}+1$, and equal to about 0.81), while

²⁸ Qualitatively similar outcomes could be reported for all the other models used in this study.

the within group persistence estimate is lower (about 0.75). GMM-sys estimate stay in the middle (about 0.8) of the overestimating pooled OLS and underestimating within group. Such range is small, reflecting: the low individual-effects variability (only about 10% of the total unexplained heterogeneity)²⁹ and the relatively long time span. Indeed, our span of about 30 years is probably enough to prevent large negative biases, as the bias of the within groups estimates in dynamic panel models is inversely proportional to the number of time periods (see Nickell, 1981; Judson and Owen, 1999; and Attanasio *et al.*, 2000).³⁰ Due to the data persistence noted above, GMM-dif estimates of the autoregressive parameter are heavily underestimated, because they rely on weak instruments.

Other parameter estimates are consistent with the assessment above: for example, GMM-dif debt parameter estimates seem unreasonably high and this fact may be related to their underestimation of the autoregressive parameter, which measures policy persistence.

The output gap parameter estimates in models without time dummies are always significantly pro-cyclical. As also shown in Tables 2a and 2b, the introduction of time dummies shifts all the estimates towards counter-cyclicality (but does not involve significant changes in the other model estimates and in model diagnostics). We interpret this result as reflecting an omitted variable bias in the coefficient of the output gap. This interpretation is supported by the fact that the inclusion of additional regressors (see Section 5) weakens both the significance of time dummies and the policy pro-cyclicality.

The choice of instrument subsets does not affect estimates (the last four columns of Table A1 report estimates that are almost undistinguishable from those in the previous four columns) but it influences outcomes of the Sargan overidentification restriction test.³¹ Therefore, the estimation results in Table 2a and 2b can be considered not largely affected by mild 5% (but almost never 1%) overidentifying restrictions rejections. In addition, note also that the differences Sargan statistics, testing for the validity of the additional moment conditions of the GMM-sys, accepts their validity with high p-values: lagged first-differences are informative instruments for the endogenous variables in levels.

²⁹ If the individual-effects variability had been high, we would have expected the pooled OLS residuals to be positively autocorrelated because of the individual effects omission, while here the autocorrelation tests never reject the hypothesis of white noise residuals (see the results in the first column of Table A1).

³⁰ We also use shorter samples (only 15 years). In these cases the bias of within group estimator may be larger.

³¹ Therefore, the rejection of the Sargan test using lags t-2 and t-3 as instruments cannot be ascribed to lag t-2, as it enters both subsets of instruments. Instrumenting with only the subset t-3 and t-4, *i.e.* omitting lag t-2 as if it was not valid because of measurement errors (see Blundell and Bond, 1999), delivers results (not reported) that are very similar to those with instruments from t-2 to t-4.

Overall, main results in this appendix can be summarised as follows.

First, the estimation method matters for the parameter outcomes. Biases in the estimation of the autoregressive parameters (here, they are badly underestimated by GMM-dif) induce biases in the other model parameter estimates. Estimates in Table A1, interpreted in the light of the basic results of the literature, lead to the presumption that GMM-sys estimator is the best performing method.

Second, notwithstanding the mild rejection of overidentifying restriction tests, we find that the choice of instrument subsets does not affect estimates. Therefore, we set the lags from t-2 to t-3 as instruments for all the estimates in the present paper. In this regard, note that Sargan tests for shorter time spans or for more complex models (e.g. allowing for policy asymmetries or for more regressors) never reject the null of valid instruments.

Studies	Countries	Period	Data	Additional variables	Asymmetry	Cyclicality
Annett (2006)	EMU-11	1980-2004 (272)	OECD	Fiscal governance & elections	n.a.	Pro-cyclical (ante-Maastricht) a-cyclical (post-Maas.) ⁽²⁾
Debrun & Kumar (2006)	OCSE-13	1990-2004 (224)	OECD	Fiscal rules & political v.	n.a.	Pro-cyclical (some specifications) ⁽³⁾
European Commission (2006)	EMU-11	1980-2005 (251)	EC (AMECO)	dummies: >91 e >98	asymmetry ⁽⁴⁾	A-cyclical (o.gaps<0) pro-cyclical (o. gaps>0) (4)
Golinelli & Momigliano(2006)	EMU-11	1988-2006 (209)	real time	Maastricht var. & elections	symmetry	Counter-cyclical
Wyplosz (2006)	EMU-10	1980-2005	OECD	none ⁽⁵⁾	n.a.	Pro-cyclical (ante-Maastricht) a-cyclical (post-Maast.)
CEPII (2005)	EMU-10	1981-2005	OECD	none	symmetry	Acyclical
Balassone & Francese (2004)	EU,USA,JAP	1970-2000	EC (AMECO)	none	symmetry (6)	Pro-cyclical
Forni & Momigliano (2004)	EMU-10	1993-2003 (110)	real time	Maastricht var.	asymmetry	Counter-cyclical (o.gaps<0) a-cyclical (o. gaps>0)
IMF (2004)	EMU-11	1982-2003 (242)	OECD	Monetary gaps ⁽⁷⁾	symmetry	Pro-cyclical (ante-Maastricht) a-cyclical (post-Maast.)
Galí & Perotti (2003)	EMU-11	1980-2002 (238)	OECD	Monetary gaps	n.a.	Pro-cyclical (ante-Maastricht) a-cyclical (post-Maast.)
Ballabriga & Martinez-Mongay (2002)	individual EMU-10	1979-1998	EC (AMECO)	none	n.a.	A-cyclical (overall assessment of individual reg.)
Brunila & Martinez-Mongay (2002)	EU	1970-1997	EC (AMECO)	none ⁽⁸⁾	n.a.	Pro-cyclical

Table 1 – The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in a Homogeneous Group of Recent Studies⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ Highly preliminary, do not quote. We refer to the 5 percent level of significance in our assessment of the reported results. ⁽²⁾ We refer to the specification which includes country dummies in Table 5 of the paper. ⁽³⁾ We refer to Table 3 of the paper; other results presented by the authors tend to indicate, for most specifications, a-cyclicality. ⁽⁴⁾ The evidence of asymmetric behaviour and the assessment concerning cyclicality, in line with the conclusions drawn in the paper, take into account both the estimates for the constant and for the coefficient of the output gap. The coefficient for the output gap has roughly the same value irrespective of cyclical conditions (good or bad) and would indicate a-cyclicality ⁽⁵⁾ We refer to column 3 of Table 2a of the paper. The specification does not include the lagged deficit. ⁽⁶⁾ Balassone and Francese (2004) conclude in favour of asymmetry on the basis of an equation with the overall balance as dependent variable. For the sake of comparability with the other studies we use the results of the equation with the primary balance (also reported by the authors), where the asymmetry is not significant. ⁽⁷⁾ We refer to the results of the upper part of Table 2.8 of the Appendix 2.4. The study examines the role of other regressors in separate analyses. ⁽⁸⁾ We refer to Figure 6.7 (also published in European Commission, 2001) which shows the results of a regression involving, as dependent variable, the changes in CAPB, and as regressors, a constant and the output gap. The analysis refer only to episodes where over at least three years the absolute values of the annual average output gap and of the annual average change in the cyclically-adjusted primary balance were bigger than 0.25% of trend GDP.

	explana	tory output g	ap in <i>t</i>	explana	tory output g	ap in <i>t</i> –1
Model:	CAPB-s	CAPB/PB-s	PB-s	CAPB-l	CAPB/PB-I	PB-I
Dependent variable:	ΔCAPB _{it}	∆ CAPB _{it}	ΔPB _{it}	ΔCAPB _{it}	ΔCAPB _{it}	ΔPB _{it}
ϕ_{capb}	-0.203 (0.035) -5.81			-0.203 (0.035) -5.73		
ϕ_{pb}		-0.195 (0.036) -5.40	-0.206 (0.037) -5.55		-0.198 (0.036) -5.52	-0.191 (0.037) -5.14
ϕ_{debt}	0.009 (0.003) <i>3.48</i>	0.009 (0.003) <i>3.35</i>	0.010 (0.003) <i>3.60</i>	0.009 (0.003) <i>3.47</i>	0.009 (0.003) <i>3.45</i>	0.009 (0.003) <i>3.32</i>
$\phi^{C}_{\ \ gap}$	-0.042 (0.040) -1.06			-0.031 (0.039) -0.79		
$\phi^{C/P}_{gap}$		0.034 (0.040) <i>0.85</i>			0.054 (0.039) <i>1.39</i>	
$\phi^{\!\!P}_{gap}$			0.093 (0.041) 2.24			-0.001 (0.040) -0.02
average $\mu_i^{(2)}$	-0.145 (0.394) -0.37	-0.214 (0.397) -0.54	-0.092 (0.407) -0.23	-0.156 (0.396) -0.39	-0.179 (0.396) -0.45	-0.132 (0.410) -0.32
Observations = $N \times T$ \overline{T}	300 27 27					
Sargan' test ⁽³⁾	0.0127	0.0138	0.0055	0.0152	0.0117	0.0036
Autocorrelation ⁽⁴⁾	0.3921	0.3726	0.4032	0.3765	0.3954	0.3996
<i>R</i> -squared ⁽⁵⁾	0.2971	0.2817	0.1584	0.2906	0.2900	0.1659
Time effects significance ⁽⁶⁾	0.0242	0.0347	0.0000	0.0136	0.0156	0.0000
Implicit ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} (7)					$-0.042^{(7)}$ (0.040)	-0.036 ⁽⁸⁾ (0.041)

 Table 2a – Estimates of Alternative Fiscal Rules with Time Effects ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ GMM-sys estimates, see Blundell and Bond (1998), over the 1978-2006 period. Below each point estimate, the corresponding standard error is in brackets and the Student's *t* is in italics. ⁽²⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates. ⁽³⁾ Over-identifying restrictions test, *p*-values. ⁽⁴⁾ Residuals' 2nd order autocorrelation test, *p*-values. ⁽⁵⁾ Proxied by the squared correlation between actual and fitted values. ⁽⁶⁾ Test for the null hypothesis that all the 28 time dummies are jointly zero, *p*-values. ⁽⁷⁾ Obtained rearranging eq. (7c) using: ϕ^{CP-1}_{gap} and ϕ^{CP-1}_{pb} estimated above, and $\omega = 0.4825$, *i.e.* the sample average of ω_{tt} (the semi-elasticity of primary balance w.r.t. the output gap stemming from automatic stabilizers; source, see Girouard and André, 2007). ⁽⁸⁾ Obtained rearranging eq. (10) using: ϕ^{P-1}_{gap} and ϕ^{P-1}_{pb} estimated above, and $\omega = 0.4825$, *i.e.* the sample average of ω_{tt} (the semi-elasticity of primary balance w.r.t. the output gap stemming from automatic stabilizers; source, see Girouard and André, 2006).

	explana	tory output g	ap in <i>t</i>	explanatory output gap in <i>t–1</i>				
Model:	CAPB-s	CAPB/PB-s	PB-s	CAPB-I	CAPB/PB-I	PB-I		
Dependent variable:	ΔCAPB _{it}	ΔCAPB _{it}	ΔPB _{it}	ΔCAPB _{it}	∆ CAPB _{it}	ΔPB _{it}		
ϕ_{capb}	-0.201 (0.032) -6.35			-0.217 (0.032) -6.73				
ϕ_{pb}		-0.207 (0.034) -6.17	-0.223 (0.036) -6.11		-0.219 (0.033) -6.67	-0.170 (0.035) -4.83		
Ødebt	0.011 (0.003) <i>4.24</i>	0.011 (0.003) <i>4.09</i>	0.014 (0.003) <i>4.79</i>	0.011 (0.003) <i>4.23</i>	0.011 (0.003) <i>4.24</i>	0.011 (0.003) <i>3.88</i>		
$\phi^{C}{}_{gap}$	-0.105 (0.030) -3.53			-0.096 (0.030) -3.18				
$\phi^{C/P}_{gap}$		-0.030 (0.033) -0.93			0.001 (0.032) <i>0.03</i>			
$\phi^{\!\!P}_{gap}$			0.069 (0.036) <i>1.95</i>			-0.073 (0.034) -2.15		
average $\mu_i^{(2)}$	-0.559 (0.173) -3.23	-0.550 (0.175) -3.15	-0.669 (0.190) -3.53	-0.547 (0.176) -3.12	-0.556 (0.176) -3.16	-0.626 (0.188) -3.33		
Observations = $N \times T$ \overline{T} Sargan' test ⁽³⁾ Autocorrelation ⁽⁴⁾	300 27.27 0.0261 0.4293	300 27.27 0.0288 0.3856	300 27.27 0.0080 0.5207	300 27.27 0.0391 0.3644	300 27.27 0.0331 0.3737	300 27.27 0.0048 0.5018		
<i>R</i> -squared ⁽⁵⁾	0.1969	0.1845	0.1395	0.1751	0.1766	0.1579 -0.085 ⁽⁷⁾		
mpren φ gap					(0.031)	(0.032)		

 Table 2b – Estimates of Alternative Fiscal Rules without Time Effects

⁽¹⁾ GMM-sys estimates, see Blundell and Bond (1998), over the 1978-2006 period. Below each point estimate, the corresponding standard error is in brackets and the Student's *t* is in italics. ⁽²⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates. ⁽³⁾ Over-identifying restrictions test, *p*-values. ⁽⁴⁾ Residuals' 2nd order autocorrelation test, *p*-values. ⁽⁵⁾ Proxied by the squared correlation between actual and fitted values. ⁽⁶⁾ See footnote 7 to Table 2a. ⁽⁷⁾ See footnote 8 to Table 2a.

Source:	OECD	HP ⁽²⁾	EC	RT ⁽³⁾
ϕ_{capb}	-0.220	-0.205	-0.158	-0.167
	(0.045) -4.88	(0.045) -4.59	(0.042) -3.75	(0.047) -3.60
ϕ_{debt}	0.011	0.011	0.009	0.010
	3.51	3.63	2.93	3.18
$\phi^{C}{}_{gap}$	-0.054 (0.044)	0.007 (0.053)	0.086 (0.065)	0.141 (0.091)
	-1.22	0.12	1.34	1.54
avg. $\mu_i^{(4)}$	-0.555 (0.404)	-0.425 (0.396)	-0.384 (0.454)	-0.140 (0.414)
	-1.37	-1.07	-0.85	-0.34
N×T	209	209	200	209
T <i>R</i> -squared ⁽⁵⁾	0.2832	0.2836	18.18 0.2653	0.2910

 Table 3 – CAPB–I Model Estimates with Alternative Data Sources

⁽¹⁾ GMM-sys estimates, see Blundell and Bond (1998), over the 1988-2006 period. Below each point estimate, we report the corresponding standard error (in brackets) and the Student's t. ⁽²⁾ Data for the initial conditions are from OECD; data for output gap are obtained using HP filtered GDP levels. ⁽³⁾ Real-time data based on OECD Economic Outlook, see Golinelli and Momigliano (2006). ⁽⁴⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates. ⁽⁵⁾ Proxied by the squared correlation between actual and fitted values.

Source:	OECD		EC		OE	CD	OECD					
	ex post		ex post		with H	P-GDP	real-time					
Times ⁽²⁾ :	bad	good	bad	good	bad	good	bad	good				
ϕ_{capb}	-0.216		0.216		-0.216		-0.161	-0.171	-0.238	-0.186	-0.	169
	(0.039)		(0.039)		(0.039)		(0.056)	(0.054)	(0.072)	(0.055)	(0.0	47)
	-5.56		5.56		-5.56		-2.85	-3.16	-3.30	-3.38	-3.	62
Ødebt	0.012		0.011	0.009	0.016	0.011	0.0	0.011				
	(0.003)		(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.0	(0.003)				
	<i>3.75</i>		2.49	1.67	<i>3.43</i>	2.07	<i>3</i> .	<i>3.17</i>				
$\phi^{C-l}_{\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	-0.062	0.036	0.037	0.142	-0.047	0.09	0.105	0.214				
	(0.050)	(0.095)	(0.081)	(0.118)	(0.068)	(0.102)	(0.116)	(0.171)				
	-1.24	0.38	0.46	<i>1.20</i>	-0.70	0.88	<i>0.90</i>	<i>1.25</i>				
avg. μ_i (3)	-0.384		-0.107	1.016	-0.630	0.560	-0.2	222				
	(0.413)		(0.431)	(1.460)	(0.419)	(1.363)	(0.4	45)				
	-0.93		-0.25	<i>0.70</i>	-1.50	<i>0.41</i>	-0.	50				
$N \times T$ \overline{T} <i>R</i> -squared ⁽⁴⁾ Time eff. ⁽⁵⁾	209 19.00 0.2856 0.0372		2091109019.0010.008.180.28560.30150.27670.03720.00800.2447		113 10.27 0.3290 0.0034	96 8.73 0.3046 0.3650	20 19 0.2 0.0)9 00 906 038				
No switch ⁽⁶⁾ Shift ⁽⁷⁾	0.09 0.0 0.39	985 198 953	0.0002 0.105 0.4632		0.0236 0.137 0.2638		0.0709 0.109 0.8259					

 Table 4 – CAPB–I Model Estimates in Good and Bad Times

 with Alternative Data Sources ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ GMM-sys estimates, see Blundell and Bond (1998), over the 1988-2006 period. Below each point estimate, we report the corresponding standard error is (in brackets) and the Student's *t*. ⁽²⁾ Bad times: when GAP \leq 0; good times: when GAP > 0. ⁽³⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates. ⁽⁴⁾ Proxied by the squared correlation between actual and fitted values. ⁽⁵⁾ Test for the null hypothesis that all the 18 time dummies are jointly zero, *p*-values. ⁽⁶⁾ *P*-values of the test for parameters (excluding ϕ_{gap}^{C-1}) being equal in the two sub-samples of good and bad times, *i.e.* for the restrictions collapsing 2SA to 2PA. ⁽⁷⁾ First row: estimate of the difference ${}_{g}\phi_{gap}^{C-1} - {}_{b}\phi_{gap}^{C-1}$ in good and bad times; second row: *p*-values of the test for the corresponding difference being zero (*i.e.* for the "no-shift" hypothesis).

Source:	OF ex	CCD post	E ex j	C post	OE with H	CD P-GDP	OECD real-time	
Times ⁽²⁾ :	bad	good	bad	good	bad	good	bad	good
	Explan	atory facto	rs of the "c	ore" model	(initial fisc	cal conditio	ns and outp	out gap):
ϕ_{capb}	-0.158 (0.053)	-0.206 (0.056)	-0.165 (0.053)	-0.178 (0.058)	-0.176 (0.057)	-0.173 (0.050)	-0.217 (0.057)	-0.160 (0.052)
	-2.98	-3.70	-3.11	-3.06	-3.08	-3.44	-3.83	-3.09
ϕ_{debt}	0.010 (0.004)	0.002 (0.005)	0.009 (0.004)	0.004 (0.005)	0.012 (0.004)	0.008 (0.005)	0.012 (0.004)	0.013 (0.005)
	2.48	0.44	2.36	0.79	2.84	1.58	3.12	2.74
$\phi^{C-l}{}_{gap}$	-0.041 (0.049) -0.83	-0.084 (0.104) -0.81	0.065 (0.0790) 0.82	0.037 (0.122) 0.30	-0.033 (0.063) -0.52	0.036 (0.099) 0.37	0.169 (0.087) 1.94	0.315 (0.177) 1.78
	0.00	TI ()				, ,	(3)	100
		The effe	ct of the ele 	ctoral cycle	e (regular al	nd snap elec	ctions) ⁽³⁾ :	
ϕ_{e1}	-0.479 (0.232)	-1.274 (0.338)	-0.465 (0.256)	-1.065 (0.333)	-0.312 (0.258)	-1.102 (0.294)	-0.300 (0.227)	-1.251 (0.340)
	-2.06	-3.76	-1.82	-3.20	-1.21	-3.75	-1.32	-3.68
ϕ_{e2}	-0.320 (0.229)	-0.624 (0.331)	-0.045 (0.252)	-0.509 (0.327)	-0.258 (0.241)	-0.540 (0.311)	-0.109 (0.221)	-0.652 (0.307)
	-1.40	-1.88	-0.18	-1.56	-1.07	-1.74	-0.49	-2.12
ϕ_{e3}	-0.336 (0.277) -1.21	-0.519 (0.487) -1.07	-0.453 (0.269) -1.68	-0.416 (0.560) -0.74	-0.365 (0.277) -1.32	-0.378 (0.417) -0.91	-0.084 (0.273) -0.31	-0.339 (0.441) -0.77
	-1,21	-1.07	-1.00	-0.74	-1.52	-0.71	-0.51	-0.77
			The effec	t of the "M	aastricht va	<i>riable</i> " ⁽⁴⁾ :	1	
ϕ_m	-0.652 (0.143) -4.54	-1.153 (0.849) -1.36	-0.611 (0.143) -4.28	-0.717 (0.542) -1.32	-0.658 (0.139) -4.71	-0.456 (0.329) -1.39	-0.574 (0.140) <i>-4.09</i>	0.329 (0.877) <i>0.38</i>
			The effe	ct of the mo	onetary cond	ditions ⁽⁵⁾ :		
ϕ_{monpol}	-0.050 (0.054) -0.92	-0.122 (0.077) -1.58	0.032 (0.060) <i>0.54</i>	-0.014 (0.104) -0.13	-0.033 (0.053) -0.62	-0.148 (0.076) -1.94	-0.112 (0.058) -1.93	-0.048 (0.066) -0.72

 Table 5 – CAPB–I Model with Additional Explanatory Variables ⁽¹⁾

	<i>The role of fiscal institutions</i> ⁽⁶⁾ :												
ϕ_{com} ⁽⁶⁾	0.688	-0.176	0.582	0.059	0.639	-0.128	0.300	-0.066					
	(0.249)	(0.339)	(0.290)	(0.379)	(0.253)	(0.339)	(0.249)	(0.312)					
	2.77	-0.52	2.01	<i>0.16</i>	2.52	-0.38	<i>1.20</i>	-0.21					
ϕ_{del} ⁽⁶⁾	0.110	-0.760	0.172	-0.579	0.169	-0.570	-0.137	-0.041					
	(0.239)	(0.331)	(0.256)	(0.385)	(0.246)	(0.339)	(0.240)	(0.336)					
	<i>0.46</i>	-2.30	0.67	-1.50	<i>0.69</i>	-1.68	-0.57	-0.12					
ϕ_{rule} ⁽⁶⁾	0.181	0.164	0.257	0.163	0.127	0.189	0.135	0.029					
	(0.116)	(0.167)	(0.119)	(0.178)	(0.115)	(0.157)	(0.105)	(0.165)					
	<i>1.56</i>	<i>0.98</i>	2.16	<i>0.92</i>	<i>1.11</i>	<i>1.20</i>	<i>1.29</i>	<i>0.18</i>					
		Other statistics:											
avg. $\mu_i^{(7)}$	-0.769	0.643	-0.491	1.154	-0.852	0.654	-0.448	0.842					
	(0.474)	(1.139)	(0.479)	(1.689)	(0.440)	(1.441)	(0.447)	(1.626)					
	-1.62	<i>0.56</i>	-1.02	<i>0.68</i>	-1.94	<i>0.45</i>	-1.00	<i>0.52</i>					
$\frac{N \times T}{\overline{T}}$	127	82	110	90	113	96	108	101					
	11.55	7.45	10.00	8.18	10.27	8.73	9.82	9.18					
<i>R</i> -squared ⁽⁸⁾	0.427	0.435	0.472	0.368	0.471	0.416	0.533	0.371					
Time eff. ⁽⁹⁾	0.109	0.186	0.017	0.453	0.086	0.199	0.001	0.081					
			A	symmetry t	ests outcom	es:							
No switch ⁽¹⁰⁾	0.0	112	0.0	001	0.0	115	0.0035						
Shift ⁽¹¹⁾	-0.	043	-0.	028	0.0)69	0.1	.46					
	0.	708	0.8	347	0.5	557	0.4	159					

⁽¹⁾ GMM-sys estimates, see Blundell and Bond (1998), over the 1988-2006 period. Below each point estimate, we report the corresponding standard error (in brackets) and the Student's *t*. In bold, estimates that are significantly different to zero at 10%. ⁽²⁾ Bad times: when GAP \leq 0; good times: when GAP > 0. Details about data availability over the cycle are in Table 6. ⁽³⁾ Election explanatory dummy variables: $e1_{it} = 1$ occurred in *t*; $e2_{it} = 1$ in t+1; $e3_{it} = 1$ snap elections. ⁽⁴⁾ Explanatory Maastricht variable, see Golinelli and Momigliano (2006). ⁽⁵⁾ Explanatory real short-term *ex ante* interest rate. ⁽⁶⁾ Fiscal governance form dummy variables: $com_{it} = 1$ committment; $del_{it} = 1$ delegation. Overall Index of national-level fiscal rules (ϕ_{rule}), see Ayuso-i-Casals *et al.* (2007). ⁽⁷⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates. ⁽⁸⁾ Proxied by the squared correlation between actual and fitted values. ⁽⁹⁾ Test for the null hypothesis that all the 18 time dummies are jointly zero, *p*-values. ⁽¹⁰⁾ *P*-values of the test for parameters (excluding ϕ_{gap}^{C-1}) being equal in the two sub-samples of good and bad times, *i.e.* for the restrictions collapsing 2SA to 2PA. (¹¹) First row: estimate of the difference ${}_{g}\phi_{gap}^{C-1} - {}_{b}\phi_{gap}^{C-1}$ in good and bad times; second row: *p*-values of the test for the corresponding difference being zero (*i.e.* for the "no-shift" hypothesis).

Data source:	OECD ex post	EC ex post	OECD with HP-GDP	OECD real-time
Total observations, of which:	209	200	209	209
- in good times	82	90	96	101
- in bad times	127	110	113	108
Regular elections in <i>t</i> , of which:	33	32	33	33
- in good times	13	19	18	17
- in bad times	20	13	15	16
Regular elections in $t+1$, of which:	38	36	38	38
- in good times	16	17	17	19
- in bad times	22	19	21	19
Snap elections in <i>t</i> , of which:	19	18	19	19
- in good times	6	4	6	9
- in bad times	13	14	13	10
Excess deficit cases, of which:	55	52	55	55
- in good times	7	8	13	2
- in bad times	48	44	42	53
Negative <i>ex ante</i> real interest rates, of which:	28	28	28	28
- in good times	13	15	12	9
- in bad times	15	13	16	19
Governance committment cases, of which:	67	67	67	67
- in good times	23	31	27	31
- in bad times	44	36	40	36
Governance delegation cases, of which:	68	68	68	68
- in good times	24	25	30	30
- in bad times	44	43	38	38

 Table 6 – Size of Sub-samples Across Data Sources (Full Sample: 1988-2006)

Instruments:					from <i>t</i> –2 to <i>t</i> –3				from <i>t</i> -	-2 to <i>t</i> 4			
Estimator:	Poole	d OLS	Within Group		GM	GMM-dif		M-sys	GMM-dif		GMN	GMM-sys	
Time dummies:	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	
ϕ_{capb}	-0.186	-0.188	-0.251	-0.251	-0.506	-0.439	-0.201	-0.203	-0.409	-0.350	-0.202	-0.203	
	(0.027)	(0.030)	(0.032)	(0.036)	(0.060)	(0.059)	(0.032)	(0.035)	(0.049)	(0.047)	(0.029)	(0.031)	
	-7.01	-6.22	-7.97	-7.05	-8.36	-7.40	-6.35	-5.81	-8.37	-7.38	-6.92	-6.44	
ϕ_{debt}	0.010	0.008	0.020	0.019	0.080	0.078	0.011	0.009	0.063	0.060	0.011	0.009	
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.015)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.003)	
	3.82	2.93	4.57	3.51	6.84	5.21	4.24	3.48	6.98	5.77	4.17	3.28	
ϕ^{C}_{gap}	-0.119	-0.069	-0.097	-0.035	-0.059	0.082	-0.105	-0.042	-0.077	0.037	-0.110	-0.069	
	(0.028)	(0.038)	(0.029)	(0.040)	(0.030)	(0.048)	(0.030)	(0.040)	(0.029)	(0.043)	(0.028)	(0.037)	
	-4.31	-1.81	-3.38	-0.86	-1.98	1.70	-3.53	-1.06	-2.66	0.86	-3.86	-1.85	
average $\mu_i^{(2)}$	-0.498	-0.572	-1.066	-1.485			-0.559	-0.145			-0.543	-0.131	
	(0.172)	(0.526)	(0.269)	(0.532)			(0.173)	(0.394)			(0.172)	(0.393)	
	-2.89	-1.09	-3.96	-2.79			-3.23	-0.37			-3.15	-0.33	
G (3)					0.0000	0.0002	0.02(1	0.0107	0.0007	0.0001	0.1045	0.0424	
Sargan test $^{(4)}$					0.0000	0.0003	0.0261	0.0127	0.0007	0.0021	0.1045	0.0434	
DII-Sargan $^{(5)}$	0.95(0	0.7605			0.0000	0.0000	0.9999	0.9292	0.0000	0.0000	0.98/5	0.9725	
1^{nd} order AC ⁽⁵⁾	0.8569	0.1005			0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	
2 order AC	0.1304	0.182/			0.38/1	0.4018	0.4293	0.3921	0.4100	0.4190	0.4309	0.3937	

 Table A1 – CAPB-s Model Estimates Using Alternative Approaches⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ Time period: 1988-2006, $N \times T = 300$ (=289 for GMM-dif because the first observation is lost), $\overline{T} = 27.3$ (26.3 for GMM-dif). Below each point estimate, the standard error (in brackets) and the Student *t*. ⁽²⁾ Average of the 11 country-effects estimates (except for the estimates in differences, *i.e.* for GMM-dif). ⁽³⁾ Overidentifying restrictions test, *p*-values. ⁽⁴⁾ Difference Sargan test for additional moment conditions embodied by GMM-sys, *p*-values. ⁽⁵⁾ Residuals autocorrelation test, *p*-values (not appropriate with within group transformed residuals).



Figure 1a – CAPB-s and CAPB-I Models Estimates with OECD *Ex Post* Data in Rolling Samples ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ The CAPB-s and CAPB-l Models estimates are indicated by *s* and *l* respectively. The first point estimates correspond to the 1978-92 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-year period. In the first three graphs the 95% confidence intervals refer to the point estimate of the CAPB-s Model corresponding parameter. The fourth graph reports the zero-interval for both point estimates with the CAPB-s and CAPB-l Models (as such, it cannot use the standard error of only one model's estimate, but the average standard errors of both CAPB-s and CAPB-l Model estimates).



Figure 1b – CAPB-I Model Estimates with OECD and EC *Ex Post* Data in Rolling Samples ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ The first point estimates correspond to the 1978-1992 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-year period. In the first three graphs the 95% confidence intervals refer to the corresponding parameter point estimate with OECD data. The lower right-hand graph reports the zero-interval for point estimates with both OECD and EC data sources (as such, it cannot use the standard error of only one estimate from one source, but the average standard error of the estimates with both sources).



Figure 1c – CAPB-I Model Estimates with *Ex Post* and Real-time OECD Data in Rolling Samples⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ The first point estimates correspond to the 1988-2002 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-year period. In the first three graphs the 95% confidence intervals refer to the corresponding parameter point estimate with *ex post* OECD data. The lower right-hand graph reports the zero-interval for point estimates with both *ex post* and real-time data (as such, it cannot use the standard error of only the estimate using *ex post* data, but the average standard error of the estimates with both *ex post* and real-time data).



Figure 1d – Estimates of ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} with Alternative Data Sources and Vintages in Rolling Samples ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ The first point estimates correspond to the 1978-2002 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-years period. The 95% confidence intervals refer to ϕ^{C-l}_{gap} estimates with *ex post* OECD data.

Legenda: Source of data: **OECD** = *OECD* ex post data; **HP** = *OECD* ex post data for initial fiscal conditions and HP-filterd GDP for the output gap; **EC** = *EC* ex post data; **RT** = real-time *OECD* data.

Figure 2a – Policy Asymmetry over the Cycle in Rolling Samples - CAPB-I Model⁽¹⁾

(a) Selection of the most appropriate approach: either two-samples switch (2SA) or two-parameters shift (2PA) ⁽²⁾



(b)Policy symmetry test outcomes using the more appropriate approach, 2SA vs 2PA ⁽³⁾

OECD data ex post OECD data with HP-filtered GDP EC data ex post OECD data real time Final year of the rolling window



rejects the null of symmetry does not reject the null of symmetry not available

- ⁽¹⁾ The first point estimates correspond to the 1978-2002 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-years period.
- ⁽²⁾ The 2SA approach is appropriate at 5% (then preferred) when the shifts in both initial fiscal conditions and all the model's deterministic components (country and time fixed effects) are jointly significant.
- ⁽³⁾ The 5% rejection of symmetric policies (under the null hypothesis) is based on the p-value of the most appropriate approach (either two-samples switch, 2SA, or two-parameters shift, 2PA, see panel above) using the indicated data source over the sample period ending in the corresponding year and starting 15 years before.



Figure 2b – Estimates of Parameter Difference in Good and Bad Times with Alternative Data Sources and Vintages in Rolling Samples ⁽¹⁾

⁽¹⁾ The first point estimates correspond to the 1978-2002 sample, the last to 1992-2006. All the sub-samples cover a fixed 15-years period. The lower spline (since 1992) measures the average of the ϕ^{C-1}_{gap} estimates with *ex post* data, the upper spline (since 2002) measures the average of the ϕ^{C-1}_{gap} estimates with real-time data.

Legenda: Source of data: **OECD** = OECD ex post data; **HP** = OECD ex post data for initial fiscal conditions and HP-filterd GDP for the output gap; **EC** = EC ex post data; **RT** = real-time OECD data.

- N. 628 Changes in transport and non-transport costs: Local vs global impacts in a spatial network, by Kristian Behrens, Andrea R. Lamorgese, Gianmarco I.P. Ottaviano and Takatoshi Tabuchi (April 2007).
- N. 629 Monetary policy shocks in the euro area and global liquidity spillovers, by João Sousa and Andrea Zaghini (June 2007).
- N. 630 Endogenous growth and trade liberalization between asymmetric countries, by Daniela Marconi (June 2007).
- N. 631 *New Eurocoin: Tracking economic growth in real time*, by Filippo Altissimo, Riccardo Cristadoro, Mario Forni, Marco Lippi and Giovanni Veronese (June 2007).
- N. 632 Oil supply news in a VAR: Information from financial markets, by Alessio Anzuini, Patrizio Pagano and Massimiliano Pisani (June 2007).
- N. 633 *The reliability of EMU fiscal indicators: Risks and safeguards*, by Fabrizio Balassone, Daniele Franco and Stefania Zotteri (June 2007).
- N. 634 Prezzi delle esportazioni, qualità dei prodotti e caratteristiche di impresa: un'analisi su un campione di imprese italiane, by Matteo Bugamelli (June 2007).
- N. 635 Openness to trade and industry cost dispersion: Evidence from a panel of Italian firms, by Massimo Del Gatto, Gianmarco I.P. Ottaviano and Marcello Pagnini (June 2007).
- N. 636 *The weighting process in the SHIW*, by Ivan Faiella and Romina Gambacorta (June 2007).
- N. 637 *Emerging markets spreads and global financial conditions*, by Alessio Ciarlone, Paolo Piselli and Giorgio Trebeschi (June 2007).
- N. 638 Comparative advantage patterns and domestic determinants in emerging countries: An analysis with a focus on technology, by Daniela Marconi and Valeria Rolli (September 2007).
- N. 639 *The generation gap: Relative earnings of young and old workers in Italy*, by Alfonso Rosolia and Roberto Torrini (September 2007).
- N. 640 *The financing of small innovative firms: The Italian case*, by Silvia Magri (September 2007).
- N. 641 Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: Maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, by Paolo Emilio Mistrulli (September 2007).
- N. 642 Detecting long memory co-movements in macroeconomic time series, by Gianluca Moretti (September 2007).
- N. 643 *The producer service sector in Italy: Long-term growth and its local determinants*, by Valter Di Giacinto and Giacinto Micucci (September 2007).
- N. 644 Aggregazioni bancarie e specializzazione nel credito alle PMI: peculiarità per area geografica, by Enrico Beretta and Silvia Del Prete (November 2007).
- N. 645 *Costs and benefits of creditor concentration: An empirical approach*, by Amanda Carmignani and Massimo Omiccioli (November 2007).
- N. 646 Does the underground economy hold back financial deepening? Evidence from the Italian credit market, by Giorgio Gobbi and Roberta Zizza (November 2007).
- N. 647 *Optimal monetary policy under low trend inflation*, by Guido Ascari and Tiziano Ropele (November 2007).
- N. 648 Indici di bilancio e rendimenti di borsa: un'analisi per le banche italiane, by Angela Romagnoli (November 2007).
- N. 649 *Bank profitability and taxation*, by Ugo Albertazzi and Leonardo Gambacorta (November 2007).
- N. 650 *Modelling bank lending in the euro area: A non-linear approach*, by Leonardo Gambacorta and Carlotta Rossi (November 2007).
- N. 651 Revisiting poverty and welfare dominance, by Gian Maria Tomat (November 2007).
- N. 652 *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: Estimates for the euro area*, by Lorenzo Forni, Libero Monteforte and Luca Sessa (November 2007).
- N. 653 *Securitisation and the bank lending channel,* by Yener Altunbas, Leonardo Gambacorta and David Marqués (November 2007).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

2004

- P. ANGELINI and N. CETORELLI, Gli effetti delle modifiche normative sulla concorrenza nel mercato creditizio, in F. Panetta (eds.), Il sistema bancario negli anni novanta: gli effetti di una trasformazione, Bologna, il Mulino, TD No. 380 (October 2000).
- P. CHIADES and L. GAMBACORTA, *The Bernanke and Blinder model in an open economy: The Italian case*, German Economic Review, Vol. 5, 1, pp. 1-34, **TD No. 388 (December 2000)**.
- M. BUGAMELLI and P. PAGANO, *Barriers to investment in ICT*, Applied Economics, Vol. 36, 20, pp. 2275-2286, **TD No. 420 (October 2001)**.
- F. BUSETTI, Preliminary data and econometric forecasting: An application with the Bank of Italy quarterly model, CEPR Discussion Paper, 4382, **TD No. 437** (December 2001).
- A. BAFFIGI, R. GOLINELLI and G. PARIGI, *Bridge models to forecast the euro area GDP*, International Journal of Forecasting, Vol. 20, 3, pp. 447-460, **TD No. 456 (December 2002)**.
- D. AMEL, C. BARNES, F. PANETTA and C. SALLEO, Consolidation and efficiency in the financial sector: A review of the international evidence, Journal of Banking and Finance, Vol. 28, 10, pp. 2493-2519, TD No. 464 (December 2002).
- M. PAIELLA, *Heterogeneity in financial market participation: Appraising its implications for the C-CAPM*, Review of Finance, Vol. 8, 3, pp. 445-480, **TD No. 473 (June 2003)**.
- F. CINGANO and F. SCHIVARDI, *Identifying the sources of local productivity growth*, Journal of the European Economic Association, Vol. 2, 4, pp. 720-742, **TD No. 474 (June 2003)**.
- E. BARUCCI, C. IMPENNA and R. RENÒ, *Monetary integration, markets and regulation*, Research in Banking and Finance, 4, pp. 319-360, **TD No. 475 (June 2003)**.
- G. ARDIZZI, Cost efficiency in the retail payment networks: first evidence from the Italian credit card system, Rivista di Politica Economica, Vol. 94, 3, pp. 51-82, **TD No. 480** (June 2003).
- E. BONACCORSI DI PATTI and G. DELL'ARICCIA, *Bank competition and firm creation*, Journal of Money Credit and Banking, Vol. 36, 2, pp. 225-251, **TD No. 481 (June 2003)**.
- R. GOLINELLI and G. PARIGI, Consumer sentiment and economic activity: a cross country comparison, Journal of Business Cycle Measurement and Analysis, Vol. 1, 2, pp. 147-170, TD No. 484 (September 2003).
- L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Does bank capital affect lending behavior?*, Journal of Financial Intermediation, Vol. 13, 4, pp. 436-457, **TD No. 486 (September 2003)**.
- F. SPADAFORA, *Il pilastro privato del sistema previdenziale: il caso del Regno Unito*, Economia Pubblica, 34, 5, pp. 75-114, **TD No. 503** (June 2004).
- C. BENTIVOGLI and F. QUINTILIANI, Tecnologia e dinamica dei vantaggi comparati: un confronto fra quattro regioni italiane, in C. Conigliani (eds.), Tra sviluppo e stagnazione: l'economia dell'Emilia-Romagna, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 522 (October 2004)**.
- R. BRONZINI, FDI Inflows, Agglomeration and host country firms' size: Evidence from Italy, Regional Studies, Vol. 41, 7, pp. 963-978, **TD No. 526** (December 2004).
- G. GOBBI and F. LOTTI, Entry decisions and adverse selection: An empirical analysis of local credit markets, Journal of Financial Services Research, Vol. 26, 3, pp. 225-244, TD No. 535 (December 2004).
- E. GAIOTTI and F. LIPPI, Pricing behavior and the introduction of the euro: Evidence from a panel of restaurants, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, 2004, Vol. 63, 3-4, pp. 491-526, TD No. 541 (February 2005).
- L. GAMBACORTA, *How do banks set interest rates?*, NBER Working Paper, 10295, **TD No. 542** (February 2005).
- A. CICCONE, F. CINGANO and P. CIPOLLONE, *The private and social return to schooling in Italy*, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, Vol. 63, 3-4, pp. 413-444, **TD No. 569** (January 2006).

- L. DEDOLA and F. LIPPI, The monetary transmission mechanism: Evidence from the industries of 5 OECD countries, European Economic Review, 2005, Vol. 49, 6, pp. 1543-1569, TD No. 389 (December 2000).
- D. Jr. MARCHETTI and F. NUCCI, *Price stickiness and the contractionary effects of technology shocks*. European Economic Review, Vol. 49, 5, pp. 1137-1164, **TD No. 392 (February 2001)**.
- G. CORSETTI, M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, Some contagion, some interdependence: More pitfalls in tests of financial contagion, Journal of International Money and Finance, Vol. 24, 8, pp. 1177-1199, TD No. 408 (June 2001).
- GUISO L., L. PISTAFERRI and F. SCHIVARDI, *Insurance within the firm*. Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 113, 5, pp. 1054-1087, **TD No. 414** (August 2001)
- R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, L. REICHLIN and G. VERONESE, *A core inflation indicator for the euro area,* Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, Vol. 37, 3, pp. 539-560, **TD No. 435 (December 2001)**.
- F. ALTISSIMO, E. GAIOTTI and A. LOCARNO, *Is money informative? Evidence from a large model used for policy analysis*, Economic & Financial Modelling, Vol. 22, 2, pp. 285-304, **TD No. 445** (July 2002).
- G. DE BLASIO and S. DI ADDARIO, *Do workers benefit from industrial agglomeration?* Journal of regional Science, Vol. 45, (4), pp. 797-827, **TD No. 453 (October 2002).**
- G. DE BLASIO and S. DI ADDARIO, Salari, imprenditorialità e mobilità nei distretti industriali italiani, in L.
 F. Signorini, M. Omiccioli (eds.), Economie locali e competizione globale: il localismo industriale italiano di fronte a nuove sfide, Bologna, il Mulino, TD No. 453 (October 2002).
- R. TORRINI, Cross-country differences in self-employment rates: The role of institutions, Labour Economics, Vol. 12, 5, pp. 661-683, TD No. 459 (December 2002).
- A. CUKIERMAN and F. LIPPI, *Endogenous monetary policy with unobserved potential output*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, Vol. 29, 11, pp. 1951-1983, **TD No. 493 (June 2004)**.
- M. OMICCIOLI, Il credito commerciale: problemi e teorie, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia, Bologna, Il Mulino, TD No. 494 (June 2004).
- L. CANNARI, S. CHIRI and M. OMICCIOLI, *Condizioni di pagamento e differenziazione della clientela*, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), *Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia*, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 495 (June 2004)**.
- P. FINALDI RUSSO and L. LEVA, *Il debito commerciale in Italia: quanto contano le motivazioni finanziarie?*, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), *Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia*, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 496 (June 2004)**.
- A. CARMIGNANI, Funzionamento della giustizia civile e struttura finanziaria delle imprese: il ruolo del credito commerciale, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia, Bologna, Il Mulino, TD No. 497 (June 2004).
- G. DE BLASIO, Credito commerciale e politica monetaria: una verifica basata sull'investimento in scorte, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia, Bologna, Il Mulino, TD No. 498 (June 2004).
- G. DE BLASIO, *Does trade credit substitute bank credit? Evidence from firm-level data*. Economic notes, Vol. 34, 1, pp. 85-112, **TD No. 498 (June 2004).**
- A. DI CESARE, *Estimating expectations of shocks using option prices*, The ICFAI Journal of Derivatives Markets, Vol. 2, 1, pp. 42-53, **TD No. 506 (July 2004).**
- M. BENVENUTI and M. GALLO, Il ricorso al "factoring" da parte delle imprese italiane, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri e M. Omiccioli (eds.), Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia, Bologna, Il Mulino, TD No. 518 (October 2004).
- L. CASOLARO and L. GAMBACORTA, *Redditività bancaria e ciclo economico*, Bancaria, Vol. 61, 3, pp. 19-27, **TD No. 519 (October 2004)**.
- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, CEPR Discussion Paper, 4961, **TD No. 521 (October 2004)**.
- P. DEL GIOVANE and R. SABBATINI, La divergenza tra inflazione rilevata e percepita in Italia, in P. Del Giovane, F. Lippi e R. Sabbatini (eds.), L'euro e l'inflazione: percezioni, fatti e analisi, Bologna, Il Mulino, TD No. 532 (December 2004).
- R. TORRINI, *Quota dei profitti e redditività del capitale in Italia: un tentativo di interpretazione*, Politica economica, Vol. 21, 1, pp. 7-41, **TD No. 551 (June 2005)**.

- M. OMICCIOLI, *Il credito commerciale come "collateral"*, in L. Cannari, S. Chiri, M. Omiccioli (eds.), Imprese o intermediari? Aspetti finanziari e commerciali del credito tra imprese in Italia, Bologna, il Mulino, **TD No. 553 (June 2005)**.
- L. CASOLARO, L. GAMBACORTA and L. GUISO, Regulation, formal and informal enforcement and the development of the household loan market. Lessons from Italy, in Bertola G., Grant C. and Disney R. (eds.) The Economics of Consumer Credit: European Experience and Lessons from the US, Boston, MIT Press, **TD No. 560 (September 2005)**.
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Lavorare in una grande città paga, ma poco*, in Brucchi Luchino (ed.), *Per un'analisi critica del mercato del lavoro*, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 570 (January 2006)**.
- P. ANGELINI and F. LIPPI, *Did inflation really soar after the euro changeover? Indirect evidence from ATM withdrawals*, CEPR Discussion Paper, 4950, **TD No. 581 (March 2006)**.
- S. FEDERICO, Internazionalizzazione produttiva, distretti industriali e investimenti diretti all'estero, in L. F. Signorini, M. Omiccioli (eds.), Economie locali e competizione globale: il localismo industriale italiano di fronte a nuove sfide, Bologna, il Mulino, **TD No. 592 (October 2002).**
- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets: Evidence from Italy*, Oxford Discussion Paper 235, Department of Economics Series, **TD No. 605 (December 2006)**.

2006

- F. BUSETTI, Tests of seasonal integration and cointegration in multivariate unobserved component models, Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 21, 4, pp. 419-438, **TD No. 476 (June 2003).**
- C. BIANCOTTI, A polarization of inequality? The distribution of national Gini coefficients 1970-1996, Journal of Economic Inequality, Vol. 4, 1, pp. 1-32, **TD No. 487 (March 2004)**.
- L. CANNARI and S. CHIRI, La bilancia dei pagamenti di parte corrente Nord-Sud (1998-2000), in L. Cannari, F. Panetta (a cura di), Il sistema finanziario e il Mezzogiorno: squilibri strutturali e divari finanziari, Bari, Cacucci, TD No. 490 (March 2004).
- M. BOFONDI and G. GOBBI, *Information barriers to entry into credit markets*, Review of Finance, Vol. 10, 1, pp. 39-67, **TD No. 509 (July 2004).**
- FUCHS W. and LIPPI F., *Monetary union with voluntary participation*, Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 73, pp. 437-457 **TD No. 512** (July 2004).
- GAIOTTI E. and A. SECCHI, Is there a cost channel of monetary transmission? An investigation into the pricing behaviour of 2000 firms, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, Vol. 38, 8, pp. 2013-2038 TD No. 525 (December 2004).
- A. BRANDOLINI, P. CIPOLLONE and E. VIVIANO, *Does the ILO definition capture all unemployment?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, Vol. 4, 1, pp. 153-179, **TD No. 529** (December 2004).
- A. BRANDOLINI, L. CANNARI, G. D'ALESSIO and I. FAIELLA, *Household wealth distribution in Italy in the* 1990s, in E. N. Wolff (ed.) International Perspectives on Household Wealth, Cheltenham, Edward Elgar, **TD No. 530 (December 2004)**.
- P. DEL GIOVANE and R. SABBATINI, Perceived and measured inflation after the launch of the Euro: Explaining the gap in Italy, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, Vol. 65, 2, pp. 155-192, TD No. 532 (December 2004).
- M. CARUSO, *Monetary policy impulses, local output and the transmission mechanism*, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, Vol. 65, 1, pp. 1-30, **TD No. 537 (December 2004).**
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA, The role of risk aversion in predicting individual behavior, In P. A. Chiappori e C. Gollier (eds.) Competitive Failures in Insurance Markets: Theory and Policy Implications, Monaco, CESifo, **TD No. 546 (February 2005).**
- G. M. TOMAT, Prices product differentiation and quality measurement: A comparison between hedonic and matched model methods, Research in Economics, Vol. 60, 1, pp. 54-68, TD No. 547 (February 2005).
- F. LOTTI, E. SANTARELLI and M. VIVARELLI, *Gibrat's law in a medium-technology industry: Empirical evidence for Italy*, in E. Santarelli (ed.), Entrepreneurship, Growth, and Innovation: the Dynamics of Firms and Industries, New York, Springer, **TD No. 555 (June 2005).**
- F. BUSETTI, S. FABIANI and A. HARVEY, *Convergence of prices and rates of inflation*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 68, 1, pp. 863-878, **TD No. 575 (February 2006).**

- M. CARUSO, *Stock market fluctuations and money demand in Italy, 1913 2003*, Economic Notes, Vol. 35, 1, pp. 1-47, **TD No. 576 (February 2006)**.
- S. IRANZO, F. SCHIVARDI and E. TOSETTI, *Skill dispersion and productivity: An analysis with matched data*, CEPR Discussion Paper, 5539, **TD No. 577 (February 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Evaluating the impact of investment incentives: The case of Italy's Law* 488/92. Journal of Urban Economics, Vol. 60, 2, pp. 327-349, **TD No. 582 (March 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Una valutazione degli incentivi pubblici agli investimenti*, Rivista Italiana degli Economisti, Vol. 11, 3, pp. 331-362, **TD No. 582** (March 2006).
- A. DI CESARE, *Do market-based indicators anticipate rating agencies? Evidence for international banks*, Economic Notes, Vol. 35, pp. 121-150, **TD No. 593 (May 2006).**
- L. DEDOLA and S. NERI, What does a technology shock do? A VAR analysis with model-based sign restrictions, Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 54, 2, pp. 512-549, TD No. 607 (December 2006).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *Real-time determinants of fiscal policies in the euro area*, Journal of Policy Modeling, Vol. 28, 9, pp. 943-964, **TD No. 609 (December 2006).**
- P. ANGELINI, S. GERLACH, G. GRANDE, A. LEVY, F. PANETTA, R. PERLI,S. RAMASWAMY, M. SCATIGNA and P. YESIN, *The recent behaviour of financial market volatility*, BIS Papers, 29, QEF No. 2 (August 2006).

2007

- L. CASOLARO. and G. GOBBI, *Information technology and productivity changes in the banking industry*, Economic Notes, Vol. 36, 1, pp. 43-76, **TD No. 489 (March 2004)**.
- M. PAIELLA, Does wealth affect consumption? Evidence for Italy, Journal of Macroeconomics, Vol. 29, 1, pp. 189-205, TD No. 510 (July 2004).
- F. LIPPI. and S. NERI, *Information variables for monetary policy in a small structural model of the euro area*, Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 54, 4, pp. 1256-1270, **TD No. 511 (July 2004)**.
- A. ANZUINI and A. LEVY, *Monetary policy shocks in the new EU members: A VAR approach*, Applied Economics, Vol. 39, 9, pp. 1147-1161, **TD No. 514 (July 2004)**.
- R. BRONZINI, *FDI Inflows, agglomeration and host country firms' size: Evidence from Italy*, Regional Studies, Vol. 41, 7, pp. 963-978, **TD No. 526 (December 2004).**
- L. MONTEFORTE, Aggregation bias in macro models: Does it matter for the euro area?, Economic Modelling, 24, pp. 236-261, **TD No. 534 (December 2004)**.
- A. DALMAZZO and G. DE BLASIO, *Production and consumption externalities of human capital: An empirical study for Italy*, Journal of Population Economics, Vol. 20, 2, pp. 359-382, **TD No. 554 (June 2005).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and R. TEDESCHI, Le strategie di prezzo delle imprese esportatrici italiane, Politica Economica, v. 3, pp. 321-350, **TD No. 563 (November 2005)**.
- L. GAMBACORTA and S. IANNOTTI, Are there asymmetries in the response of bank interest rates to monetary shocks?, Applied Economics, v. 39, 19, pp. 2503-2517, **TD No. 566 (November 2005).**
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Wages and the city. Evidence from Italy*, Development Studies Working Papers 231, Centro Studi Luca d'Agliano, **TD No. 570 (January 2006)**.
- P. ANGELINI and F. LIPPI, Did prices really soar after the euro cash changeover? Evidence from ATM withdrawals, International Journal of Central Banking, Vol. 3, 4, pp. 1-22, TD No. 581 (March 2006).
- A. LOCARNO, Imperfect knowledge, adaptive learning and the bias against activist monetary policies, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 3, 3, pp. 47-85, **TD No. 590 (May 2006)**.
- F. LOTTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Revisiting the empirical evidence on firms' money demand*, Journal of Economics and Business, Vol. 59, 1, pp. 51-73, **TD No. 595** (May 2006).
- P. CIPOLLONE and A. ROSOLIA, *Social interactions in high school: Lessons from an earthquake*, American Economic Review, Vol. 97, 3, pp. 948-965, **TD No. 596 (September 2006).**
- A. BRANDOLINI, Measurement of income distribution in supranational entities: The case of the European Union, in S. P. Jenkins e J. Micklewright (eds.), Inequality and Poverty Re-examined, Oxford, Oxford University Press, TD No. 623 (April 2007).
- M. PAIELLA, The foregone gains of incomplete portfolios, Review of Financial Studies, Vol. 20, 5, pp. 1623-1646, TD No. 625 (April 2007).

- K. BEHRENS, A. R. LAMORGESE, G.I.P. OTTAVIANO and T. TABUCHI, Changes in transport and non transport costs: local vs. global impacts in a spatial network, Regional Science and Urban Economics, Vol. 37, 6, pp. 625-648, TD No. 628 (April 2007).
- R. GIORDANO, S. MOMIGLIANO, S. NERI and R. PEROTTI, *The Effects of Fiscal Policy in Italy: Evidence from a VAR Model*, European Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 23, 3, pp. 707-733, **TD No. 656** (December 2007).

FORTHCOMING

- P. ANGELINI, *Liquidity and announcement effects in the euro area*, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, **TD No. 451 (October 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, Italian households' debt: The participation to the debt market and the size of the loan, Empirical Economics, **TD No. 454 (October 2002)**.
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA,, *Risk aversion, wealth and background risk*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 483 (September 2003).**
- G. FERRERO, *Monetary policy, learning and the speed of convergence,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, **TD No. 499 (June 2004).**
- F. SCHIVARDI e R. TORRINI, *Identifying the effects of firing restrictions through size-contingent Differences in regulation*, Labour Economics, **TD No. 504 (giugno 2004)**.
- S. MOMIGLIANO, J. Henry and P. Hernández de Cos, *The impact of government budget on prices: Evidence from macroeconometric models*, Journal of Policy Modelling, **TD No. 523 (October 2004).**
- D. Jr. MARCHETTI and F. Nucci, *Pricing behavior and the response of hours to productivity shocks*, Journal of Money Credit and Banking, **TD No. 524 (December 2004).**
- L. GAMBACORTA, *How do banks set interest rates?*, European Economic Review, **TD No. 542** (February 2005).
- A. NOBILI, Assessing the predictive power of financial spreads in the euro area: does parameters instability matter?, Empirical Economics, Vol. 31, 4, pp., **TD No. 544 (February 2005)**.
- P. ANGELINI and A. Generale, *On the evolution of firm size distributions*, American Economic Review, **TD** No. 549 (June 2005).
- R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Distance, bank heterogeneity and entry in local banking markets*, The Journal of Industrial Economics, **TD No. 557 (June 2005).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and R. TEDESCHI, Le strategie di prezzo delle imprese esportatrici italiane, Politica Economica, **TD No. 563 (November 2005).**
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Wages and the city. Evidence from Italy*, Labour Economics, **TD No. 570** (January 2006).
- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD** No. 578 (February 2006).
- E. VIVIANO, *Entry regulations and labour market outcomes. Evidence from the Italian retail trade sector*, Labour Economics, **TD No. 594 (MAY 2006)**.
- S. FEDERICO and G. A. MINERVA, *Outward FDI and local employment growth in Italy*, Review of World Economics, **TD No. 613 (February 2007).**
- F. BUSETTI and A. HARVEY, Testing for trend, Econometric Theory TD No. 614 (February 2007).
- V. CESTARI, P. DEL GIOVANE and C. ROSSI-ARNAUD, Memory for Prices and the Euro Cash Changeover: An Analysis for Cinema Prices in Italy, In P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 619 (February 2007).
- B. ROFFIA and A. ZAGHINI, *Excess money growth and inflation dynamics*, International Finance, **TD No.** 629 (June 2007).
- M. DEL GATTO, GIANMARCO I. P. OTTAVIANO and M. PAGNINI, Openness to trade and industry cost dispersion: Evidence from a panel of Italian firms, Journal of Regional Science, TD No. 635 (June 2007).
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, **TD No. 637 (June 2007).**
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: The Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, **TD No. 640 (September 2007)**.